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1 (PROCEEDINGS COMMENCED AT 9:45 A.M.)

2 THE REGISTRAR: This special sitting

3| of the Federal Court in Vancouver is now open; The

4| Honourable Mr. Justice Phelan presiding.

5 The court calls docket T-2030-13 between
6| Neil Allard, Tanya Beemish, David Hebert and Shawn

7| Davey, and Her Majesty the Queen in right of Canada.

8 Appearing on behalf of the plaintiffs,

9| Mr. John Conroy, Q.C., Mr. Kirk Tousaw, Ms. Tonia Grace,
10| Mr. Bibhas Vaze, and Mr. Matthew Jackson. And on behalf
11 of the defendant, Mr. Jan Brongers, Mr. Carl Januszczak,
12| Ms. B.J. Wray, Ms. Melissa Nicolls, Mr. Philippe Alma.
13 JUSTICE: Thank you. Sit down,

14| please. Good morning.

15 I appreciate that this case has some

16| degree of notoriety or attention, and while we

17| appreciate the interest that people have, and I

18| appreciate also that there are some strongly-held views,
19| I want to make it clear to the audience that this is a
20| trial and not a meeting or a debate. And despite the
21| very personal and emotional nature of the case, there
22| will be no cheering or indications of support or comment
23| or interruptions.
24 At all times there will be courtesy shown
25 to the court, its officials, to counsel, whether you
26| agree with the counsel’s position or not. And the same
27| applies for witnesses. That requirement for respect and
28| civility extends not only in this court but outside this
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1| court as well. We just can’t have any distractions or

2| interference with this important matter. So I know that
3| you share with me the desire to have a fair and proper

4| trial, and that’s what we will have. I know that you

5| will govern yourselves accordingly. I look forward to

6| the case.

7 So. let’s start.

8 MR. CONROY: My Lord, if I may, Ms.

9| Grace is sitting in the middle and she is here today but
10| won’t be back until the third week.

11 JUSTICE: Okay.

12 MR. CONROY: Mr. Tousaw and Mr.

13| Jackson are going to -- well, Mr. Tousaw will be here

14| for the first two weeks and not the third week. Mr.

15| Jackson will be here throughout. And Mr. Vaze is going
16| to be in and out, but he’ll be here particularly next

17| week, just so you know, with people coming and going.

18 JUSTICE: Thank you.

19 MR. CONROY: The other thing is, we
20| have Mr. Davey and Mr. Alexander. Mr. Davey is the
21| first witness, as you know, and a plaintiff, and Mr.

22| Alexander is his caregiver. We have them both, with

23| your permission, sitting up there so that they’re easily
24| accessible to the box. My friend and I have discussed
25| Mr. Alexander being present, and he has no difficulty

26| with him being present during the cross-examination; nor
27| do I.

28 JUSTICE: Okay. Perfect. All right.
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1 MR. CONROY: So just -- there’s some

2| other housekeeping matters.

3 JUSTICE: Yes.

4 MR. CONROY: But I don’t know if you

5| want to deal with them --

6 JUSTICE: Why don’t we get them all at
7| least out on the table, and deal with everything we can?
8 MR. CONROY: I think the only other

9 ones that I had were to do with the books, and the book,
10| Killer Weed, was marked as an exhibit, I believe, in the
11| injunction proceeding. Certainly a copy was also given
12| to Judge Manson. So I don’t know if that -- those two,
13 or at least one, exists somewhere still in the court’s
14| book, so that we have that as an exhibit. And then I

15| can hand this up, if the Court wants to have its own --
16 JUSTICE: Well, I'm told that we have
17| it in the evidence, but --

18 MR. CONROY: Oh, so you’ve got one or
19 two? You’ve got one. So if the Court wants one to mark
20| up --
21 JUSTICE: Okay.
22 MR. CONROY: The same is true of the
23| other books, if the court wants them to mark up.
24 JUSTICE: I see you have filed two
25| others.
26 MR. CONROY: Yes.
27 JUSTICE: A handbook, and I’'ve
28| forgotten the name of the other one there.
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1 MR. CONROY: Yes, the Clark

2| ethnobotany one.

3 JUSTICE: Yes. I have those.

4 MR. CONROY: And then the only other

5 hard copy that I don’t think you have, but there are

6| copies as exhibits, is the American Herbal Pharmacopeia,
7 so that you have a copy of that.

8 JUSTICE: Okay.

9 MR. CONROY: I think that’s really --

10 I'm not sure if there was some other housekeeping. We
11| have set down issues. I think the court is aware that
12| we'’re not calling Ms. Capler.

13 JUSTICE: That’s right.

14 MR. CONROY: So that case, that

15| period.

16 JUSTICE: So that means Monday is a

17 free day.

18 MR. CONROY: Yes.

19 JUSTICE: Okay.
20 MR. CONROY: We’'re going to do the
21| Brown v. Dunn issue, I think we set for Monday.

22 JUSTICE: Yes, sorry, that’s right.

23| So that means unless there’s something that arises,

24| Friday is a free day, am I right?

25 MR. CONROY: Yes.

26 JUSTICE: Okay.

27 MR. CONROY: Just so -- I think that’s
28| all unless my friend has some other issues, housekeeping
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1| issues.

2 JUSTICE: Mr. Brongers.

3 MR. BRONGERS: I do have one

4| housekeeping issue, thank you, Mr. Conroy and Mr.

5| Justice Phelan.

6 The only thing I think that might be

7| helpful to deal with at the outset is how we mark the

8 joint book of documents as an exhibit, how we treat it,
9| because from our perspective what would be simplest is
10| to just mark the entire book as Exhibit 1. The only

11| concern is that it does currently contain a number of
12| documents that both parties, or at least our party may
13| be objecting to, in terms of the documents that are

14| being put to the other side’s witnesses.

15 So what we could do is provisionally mark
16| it as Exhibit 1, and then over time remove documents if
17| they don’t wind up getting properly admitted. We have
18| the documents that are attached as exhibits to the

19 affidavits and the affidavits themselves, those are
20| obviously fine. That takes us up to Volume 11, tab 16,
21| but then starting at tab 17 we have the documents that
22| are to be put to the witnesses.
23 JUSTICE: I was thinking of that, and
24| my preference would be that we mark -- we’ve got the
25 joint books, that’s fine, but that we would mark each
26| exhibit -- each affidavit as an exhibit. The court has
27| a copy. I have the joint book that I can work with.
28 That way, when we come to a witness, if there’s a
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1| problem with a document, we’ve got a way of dealing with
2| 1it, we can segregate it rather than trying to find it

3| later on and it drifts somehow into the Court of Appeal
4| as inevitably it will.

5 So I think we’ll keep it, unless that

6 throws counsel off, if we could just mark each one of

7| the affidavits as an exhibit. But we’ll use the joint

8| book of documents as the starting point so we’'re all

9| playing with the same deck of cards. Is that okay?

10 MR. CONROY: So we have an actual copy
11| of, say, Mr. Davey’'s affidavit in the file that we’d

12| mark as the exhibit?

13 JUSTICE: Yes. The registrar has a

14| copy of the joint books, and he will stamp and put the
15| appropriate notations on.

16 MR. CONROY: Okay. All right, I’'1ll do
17| a brief opening then if that’s --

18 JUSTICE: Perfect.

19 OPENING STATEMENT BY MR. CONROY:
20 As you know, this is a constitutional
21| challenge to the Marijuana for Medical Purposes
22| Regulations, which are regulations pursuant to the
23 Control of Drugs and Substances Act, a federal statute.
24| The issues we submit arise under Section 7 of the
25| Charter, the right to life, liberty, and the security of
26| the person, and the right not to be deprived thereof
27| except in accordance with the principles of fundamental
28| Jjustice. And so liberty and security of the person are
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1 the two issues, rights, that we focus on. And the

2| principles of fundamental justice that we focus on are

3 arbitrariness, over-breadth, and gross

4| disproportionality.

5 And as submitted in the pre-trial

6| conference memo, we say that this is not a free-standing
7| inquiry under Section 7 in relation to public interest

8| or public good, or whether one is striking the balance

9| between what the government wants and what the

10| individuals want. It’s about the manner in which the

11| right to life, liberty, and security of the person are
12| deprived, and public interest and public good issues, we
13| say, arise under Section 1, the provision of reasonable
14| limits prescribed by law that are demonstrably justified
15| in a free and democratic society.

16 So the issue, we say, is reasonably

17| narrow in terms of the ability of a medically-approved
18| patient to produce for him- or herself, or to have a

19| caregiver do so for them. And I emphasize the word
20| “caregiver” is limited. 1It’s not as broad as the
21| current designated grower under the old Medical
22| Marijuana Access Regulations, which are the provisions
23| that were grandfathered by the injunction. We say the
24| caregiver is simply someone who stands in the shoes of
25| the patient who is unable to do it for him- or herself,
26| but wants still to have control and for various reasons,
27| including affordability, wants to do it that way.
28 So, under the Medical Marijuana Access
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1| Regulations that came out in 2001, a person could

2| produce for oneself or have a designated grower do so.

3| The government in that legislation created a formula

4| that depended upon the number of grams per day that a

5| doctor and patient decided was appropriate in the

6| individual circumstances, and then the calculation

7 resulted then in what number of plants, how much

8 storage, how much you could possess on your person, that
9| sort of thing. There was no limit on location. You

10| could grow in your basement or in an outbuilding, or

11 elsewhere. You could grow indoor or outdoor, but not

12| both at the same time. It was limited to dried

13| marijuana, no extracts, like the -- what I’ll call, if I
14| may, the Marijuana for Medical Purposes Regulations,

15| MMPR, the new regulations. And there was a 30-day

16| supply allowance that you could have on your person, not
17| limited to the 150 grams which is in the MMPR and has

18| carried forward under the injunction from Justice

19| Manson.
20 Under the MMPR, only licensed producers
21| can produce and supply cannabis to patients. Again,
22| still dried only. And as I mentioned, 150 gram limit.
23| And of course because it’s licensed producers, it
24| doesn’t involve growing in a residence. It involves
25| growing in a large commercial facility, and it’s also
26 limited to indoor, no outdoor. So those are the
27| essential differences.
28 So, we will be submitting that if the
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1 court accepts our submission, that as in Parker, the

2| patients continue to be placed in a situation, or some

3| of them, where they have to choose between their liberty
4| and their health, and you accept that that’s a violation
5 of Section 7, as the courts found in Parker and

6| subsequently in Merna, then the question arises with

7| respect to Section 1. And we of course submit that

8| there is no reasonable limits. If there are any, they

9| have to be justified under Section 1, and the onus is on
10| the government to so justify.

11 So, clearly the remedy that we would seek
12| at the end of the day, if you accept our submissions, is
13 that you strike down the -- well, you don’t really --

14| you exempt the parties, the medically-approved patients,
15| pending an opportunity on the part of the government to
16| try and make the MMPR constitutional. And we say in

17 order to do that, they have to bring back personal

18| production, or caregiver production. They have to in

19| addition, we say, undo the dried marijuana only
20| limitation, and the 150-gram possession limitation.
21 There are other issues that obviously

22| arise, but the court is not going to be involved in

23| having to create the legislation. It’s for the

24| government to try and come up with legislation that is
25| constitutional in accordance with what we hope the court
26| will find on our behalf.

27 So as I mentioned, the issues under

28| Section 7: liberty, security of the person, decision by
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1| a medically approved person with respect to their

2| health, a decision of fundamental personal importance.

3| The principles of fundamental justice I’'ve identified

4| for you. I gave to you in the pre-trial memorandum a

5| citation from Charkowi from the Supreme Court of Canada
6| in 2007. It appears at page 14 and 15, paragraph 36. I
7| won’'t read it to you but it’s essentially the paragraph
8| which talks about the difference between Section 7 and

9| Section 1 of the Charter and the issues that arrive that
10 I mentioned a moment ago. Importantly, we submit that
11| the state, the government bears the burden of justifying
12| any intrusive measures or limitations upon the

13| individual’s liberty and security of the person.

14 The recent decision of the Supreme Court
15 of Canada in Carter and the earlier, just before that,
16| Bedford, expand and provide useful, helpful summaries of
17| these principles of fundamental justice that are in

18| issue in this case.

19 The plaintiffs that we have are obviously
20| representatives from the group of medically approved
21| patients. Mr. Davey, who is the first witness, is a
22| person who was damaged in a motor vehicle, motorcycle
23| accident, severely brain damaged, and so he has over
24| time participated in the MMAR with designated growers
25| and things of that kind, ultimately to start growing for
26| himself and has had the good fortune of meeting Mr.
27| Alexander, who’'s also present in the courtroom, who is a
28| neighbour who also is an approved patient but he’s not a
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1| plaintiff. And they produce their medicine in an

2| outbuilding on a piece of property in the District of

3| Mission, in a rural area that’s in the Agricultural Land

4| Reserve. So it’s not in the basement, in one’s

5| residence type of a situation. And we would describe it

6| as a collective garden type of situation, where patients

7 come together to help each other to produce their

8| medicine safely and securely.

9 The other plaintiff, Beemish and Hebert,
10| Mr. Hebert is the spouse and designated grower under the
11| MMAR for Ms. Beemish who is the patient, and so it’s an
12| example of the designated grower patient situation.
13| Again, like a caregiver but with the specific statutory
14| provision that was in the MMAR in that regard. Now,
15| she, Ms. Beemish, suffers particularly from stomach
16| ailments. I'm still hoping that she’ll be able to make
17| it tomorrow, but I’ll know later today and we’ll keep
18| the court posted and --

19 JUSTICE: Then we may have to juggle
20| things around a bit.

21 MR. CONROY: Well, I've said to my

22 friend either she will be here or she won’'t, and he will
23 cross-examine Mr. Hebert on it rather than us have to go
24| to the hospital.

25 JUSTICE: Rather than going to her?

26 MR. CONROY: Yes.

27 JUSTICE: Okay.

28 MR. CONROY: Just so that -- so she is
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1| an example where her husband is the caregiver and

2| spouse, and in their situation were unable to -- or

3| because of their financial situation had to move prior
4| to September 30*", 2013 deadline and notified Health

5| Canada accordingly, but couldn’t find a place until

6| after. So they fell into the situation of people who

7| couldn’t move their production site after the September
8| 30" date in the legislation that was the transition

9| date.

10 Further, it turned out as a result of

11| Justice Manson picking the March 21°° date of his order
12| with respect to authorizations to possess, that her

13| authorization to possess had expired in January as well.
14| So we say that they are a classic illustration of the
15| Parker issue of having to choose between their liberty
16| and their health, since commencement of the proceedings
17| and because they are not covered by the injunction.

18 They grew, or he grew for her, in a

19 garage with a tent-type structure, and apparently
20| without the knowledge of surrounding neighbours and so
21| on. So, a similar caregiver type situation, but using
22| the designated grower provision in the MMAR.

23 And then finally Mr. Allard. Mr. Allard
24| has a serious nervous condition. He has been on a

25| disability pension.

26 I should mention that Ms. Beemish, just
27 to come back to her for a moment, in contrast to Mr.

28| Davey, who has a substantial award in terms of the motor
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1| vehicle matter, Ms. Beemish is on a roughly $600 a month
2| disability pension, and her husband is employed, but has
3| significant debt. So that was their financial

4| situation.

5 Mr. Allard is a person who worked for the
6| federal government and then went on a disability pension
7| because of his health, and he'’s approaching 65, which

8| will cause some reduction in that, but then he’ll get

9| his Canada Pension. So he is an example of an older

10| person compared to the others, who is producing in a

11| residence, in a basement, in a room that has been

12| constructed for that particular purpose. So that you

13| have a combination of the different types of situations
14| that may arise in the circumstances.

15 Now, we say that if you -- the starting
16| point is, we tendered a witness, Professor Baumann, a

17| horticulturalist from the University College of the

18| Fraser Valley, that my friend has indicated they do not
19| wish to cross-examine. I don’t think there’s any
20| dispute about what he has to say, which is basically
21| setting out how people can grow their own food or other
22| types of things, herbs, or medicinal plants, that are
23| all set out in the Richter’s catalogue that’s attached
24| to his affidavit.
25 And of course, that applies generally to
26| matters that -- or drugs, I should perhaps say, or
27| plants, that are not in the Controlled Drugs and
28| Substances Act, not prohibited by the Controlled Drugs
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1| and Substances Act. And so that’s the distinction. If
2| cannabis was removed from Schedule II of the Controlled
3| Drugs and Substances Act, we say, the Natural Health

4 Care Product Regulations under the Food and Drug Act

5| would apply.

6 And if you look at that catalogue, you’ll
7 see the red crosses and so on of all the plants that are
8| held out to be for medicinal purposes. And you’ll see

9| that some of them include the opium poppy, for example,
10| or foxglove, things of that kind, that are plant-type,
11| held out for medicinal purposes, or food purposes.

12 So, the Controlled Drugs and Substances
13| Act is what -- is there, unlike many of those other

14| herbs and plants, but this is where the courts over time
15| starting with Parker in 2001 have had the whole issue

16| litigated to the point where the courts have ruled, the
17| Ontario Court of Appeal in particular, that the

18| government had to create a viable constitutional

19| exemption, and that this exemption would have to be
20| available to all medically approved patients, and would
21| supply -- would provide a reasonable, safe, and
22| continuous access and supply.
23 So we say the critical thing is a supply
24| for all, not just some, but all medically approved
25| patients. And that includes the poor. Those that can’t
26| afford the costs under the new regime, and we say it
27| includes those who wish to keep control over the
28| production of their own medicine because of either
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1| particular sensitivities that they have to either

2| pesticides or other pharmaceuticals or things that could
3| be put in by someone else, and that they can do so in a
4| safe and secure manner.

5 So the starting point is Section 7,

6 liberty and the security of the person that everybody

7| has in Canada. It’s not a matter of us seeking

8| permission from the government. We say the right is

9| there. The government by the Controlled Drugs and

10| Substances Act has put in this prohibition, but the

11| courts have said there has to be a viable exemption.

12| And so at the end of the day that’s the issue for the
13| court, is going to be, are these patients, or at least
14| some of them, continuing to be put in a position where
15| they have to choose between their liberty and their

16| health? Does the exemption process that the government
17 has created apply and supply or provide a supply to all
18| medically approved patients and not just some?

19 So I want to make it clear that this is
20| not a contest against Licensed Producers under the MMPR.
21| We say that people should be able to produce for

22| themselves, have a caregiver produce for them, or, if
23 they can afford it, go to the Licensed Producers under
24| the MMPR. And that’s essentially in a nutshell our

25| position, My Lord.

26 JUSTICE: Thank you.

27 MR. BRONGERS: Thank you, Justice

28

Phelan.
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1 OPENING STATEMENT OF MR. BRONGERS:

2 Before setting out what the issues are in
3| this case from the defendant’s perspective, it’'s

4| importantly to briefly confirm what this case is not

5| about. This case is not about Parliament’s fundamental
6| ability to regulate marijuana. The federal government

7| has this authority and there is no constitutional right
8| to unlimited access to marijuana in any amount, in any

9| form, or from any source. And as my friend said, while
10| his clients take issue with some aspects of the new

11| Medical Marijuana Regulations, they do accept that there
12| must be a regime which necessarily imposes some limits
13| on access.

14 This case is also not about whether those
15| with a demonstrated medical need ought to have access to
16| a lawful supply of medical marijuana. As my friend

17 said, the courts have found that government regulation
18 of marijuana must allow for such access. However, the
19 courts have not expressly prescribed how exactly such
20| access should be provided, or what reasonable limits can
21| be applied, leaving those details to the government.

22 So what this case is about is whether the
23| policy choice made by the government to adopt the

24| current system for ensuring a lawful supply of medical
25| marijuana within reasonable limits is one that is

26| constitutionally acceptable.

27 The issue can further be broken down into
28| four sub-issues. Namely the specific limits within the
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1| new system that the plaintiffs are challenging. First,
2| there is the transition to a supply model that limits

3| those who are entrusted with growing marijuana to

4| carefully regulated Licensed Producers as opposed to the
5| o0ld model that relied primarily on home cultivators who
6| could not easily be supervised. Second, there is the

7| limit on the locations in which marijuana can be

8| produced to indoor non-residential sites. Third, there
9| is the limit on the volume of marijuana that can be

10| possessed at any one time. And fourth, there is the

11| limit on the form of marijuana that can be produced to
12| dry marijuana.

13 To assist the court in determining its

14| constitutionality, the defendant has already led,

15| through the affidavits already filed, evidence to

16| explain Canada’s new Medical Marijuana Regime. This

17| evidence shows that Canada has adopted a new system to
18| ensure access to a safe and lawful supply of marijuana
19 for those with a demonstrated medical need, with
20| reasonable limits designed to ensure the safety of both
21| patients and the public.

22 This new system, called the Marijuana for
23| Medical Purposes Regulations, or the MMPR, accomplishes
24| this by fostering and regulating a licensed medical

25| marijuana industry that is subject to the same stringent
26| oversight as the one that exists for all other medicines
27| whose consumption and production entail public safety

28| risks. It replaces an old system, the Medical Marijuana
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1| Access Regulations, or the MMAR, whose underpinning was
2| that patients should either be growing their own

3| marijuana at home or finding someone else to home-grow

4| it for them, or buying marijuana from the government in
5| the single strain that it was making available.

6 Now, this old system was designed on the
7| premise that only a very small number of Canadians would
8| ever seek access to medical marijuana. It was not

9| designed to handle the exponential growth in demand that
10| occurred in the years following its adoption. And it

11| wasn’t long before the old MMAR system became the

12| subject of significant criticism from a wide spectrum of
13| stakeholders, including patients, law enforcement

14 officials, first responders, municipalities, and members
15| of the public. These stakeholders told the government
16| that the old system wasn’t working. They told the

17| government that it was needlessly putting Canadians at
18| risk by entrusting the bulk of the task of producing

19| medical marijuana to ordinary Canadians, operating out
20| of their homes, in residential neighbourhoods. And they
21| told the government that the risks of this system are
22| multi-faceted. 1Include the following.
23 First, the possibility of diversion of
24| marijuana to the illicit market. Second, the
25| possibility of home invasion and violence by criminal
26| elements. Third, the possibility of fires in homes from
27| overloaded electrical circuits, and the use of dangerous
28| solvents for making marijuana extracts. Fourth, the
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1| possibility of personal injury, including burns and

2| inhaling dangerous chemicals. Sixth [sic], the

3| possibility of mould developing in homes, causing

4| structural damage as well as jeopardizing health.

5| Seventh, the possibility of creating noxious odours,

6| diminishing the quality of life for neighbours in the

7| community. Eighth, the possibility of exposing children
8| to marijuana and marijuana products. And last but not

9| least, the possibility of producing poor-quality,

10| contaminated marijuana that is medically ineffective or
11| even harmful to patients.

12 These are the risks that the government
13| was informed about by stakeholders and the court will

14| hear opinion evidence that these risks are genuine. It
15| will also hear that while these risks can be managed, to
16| do so requires cultivators to have a certain level of

17| knowledge and skill, as well as the financial and

18| logistical ability to establish, obtain, and maintain

19 the infrastructure and equipment necessary to grow
20| quality marijuana safely.
21 Risk management of marijuana cultivation
22| also requires the ability for the government to
23 supervise and oversee the cultivators.
24 The court will hear that government
25| officials pondered how best to manage these public
26| health and safety risks, while still ensuring that
27| access to a lawful supply of marijuana is made available

28

to those with a demonstrated medical need. It will hear
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1| that they considered continuing to permit home

2| cultivation, coupled with an enhanced system of

3| regulatory inspections. However, they concluded as a

4| matter of policy that this option was not viable. It

5| was not viable from a practical perspective, because of
6| the sheer number of inspections that would have to be

7| conducted. And it was not viable from a legal

8| perspective because homeowners have a constitutional

9| right to privacy in their own homes that is incompatible
10| with effective state inspections of home grow

11| operations.

12 So ultimately Health Canada officials

13 decided that a better method for ensuring safe access to
14| quality medical marijuana would be to set up a licensed
15| producer system very similar to the one that applies to
16| the traditional pharmaceutical industry. A system

17| whereby producers who can demonstrate that they can

18| safely and effectively grow and distribute medical

19| marijuana can be licensed to do so, so long as they are
20| willing to subject themselves to a stringent system of
21| government oversight and inspections. It was felt that
22| only in this way could Canada meet its legal obligation
23| to ensure lawful access to medical marijuana while

24| addressing the significant public safety concerns that
25| had arisen from the old system, which had allowed home
26| cultivation. And the court will hear that in so doing,
27| the government did not act capriciously, but rather in

28

accordance with its view that it should, as much as
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1| possible, treat marijuana like other medicines.

2 The court will also hear evidence that

3| the program has now been functioning for almost one

4| year, although not quite in the manner that the

5| government had intended, because of the interlocutory

6| injunction that was issued by the court, which has

7| preserved for many the possibility of growing at home.

8 Nevertheless, there are a significant

9| number of Licensed Producers already that are offering a
10| variety of strains of marijuana at a variety of prices,
11| with a middle range of about $5 to $8 per gram, with

12| some offering compassionate discounts as low as $1.75

13| per gram. And opinion evidence will be provided that

14| over time this trend of relatively low prices and decent
15| supply can be expected to continue into the future.

16 The government’s evidence will also

17| address three secondary issues raised by the plaintiffs.
18| It will hear that the new system’s limit on production
19| locations to those that are indoors and non-residential
20| reflects the heightened security concerns that arise
21| when marijuana plants are grown outdoors or in houses
22| where people live. It will hear that the possession
23| limits are designed to discourage the targeting of
24| marijuana patients by the criminal element, if it is
25| known that patients cannot possess enormous quantities
26| of marijuana. And it will hear that the limit to dried
27| marijuana reflects the particular dangers of producing
28| non-dried marijuana. Additional challenges to law
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1| enforcement, in terms of preventing diversion;

2 additional harms to children and adolescents; and the

3| fact that the scientific evidence of the therapeutic

4| Dbenefits of non-dried marijuana is particularly limited.
5 Furthermore, the court will hear that

6| Canada’'s approach to supplying marijuana is consistent

7| with that taken in a number of other jurisdictions in

8| the world that have medical marijuana regulatory

9| regimes. Namely The Netherlands, Israel, and the United
10| States. In these jurisdictions, the trend is towards

11| relying on large-scale commercial production to ensure a
12| safe supply of quality marijuana as opposed to relying
13| on small-time home grow operations.

14 Now, as the court has heard from my

15 learned friend, the court will also hear evidence from
16| the plaintiffs about their use of medical marijuana, how
17| they have been cultivating it at home, and their

18| financial capacity to afford marijuana. In addition to
19| the defendant’s evidence regarding the risks of home
20| cultivation and the existence of a reasonable
21| alternative supply to medical marijuana through Licensed
22| Producers, the defendant will respond to the plaintiffs’
23| assertions by providing evidence about what volumes of
24| marijuana consumption are medically justifiable.

25 This will be relevant because the

26| plaintiffs’ allegations of unaffordability rest in large
27| part on the enormous quantities of marijuana that they
28| have persuaded their doctors to authorize. The court
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1| will ultimately have to address whether these

2| allegations are truly meritorious or they are a

3| reflection of a volume of marijuana use that is not

4| medically necessary.

5 So, to conclude, at the end of the trial,
6| the evidence of the defendant will give the court a

7| thorough understanding of the new legislative regime and
8| the manner in which it provides access to medical

9| marijuana subject to certain limits. Furthermore, the
10| evidence will show that the public safety concerns that
11| underpin these limits are genuine. Given that the

12| plaintiffs have put in issue the need for these limits,
13| the defendant will ensure that the court has evidence
14| which explains their rationale for its consideration.
15| And ultimately, based on all of this evidence, Canada
16| will ask the court to dismiss the plaintiffs’ action in
17| its entirety, thereby setting aside the interlocutory
18| injunction, and permitting the new regime to provide

19| access to safe, good-quality medical marijuana as
20| intended.
21 Thank you, Justice Phelan.
22 JUSTICE: Thank you very much. Mr.
23| Conroy.
24 MR. CONROY: So the first witness,
25| Justice Phelan, is Shawn Davey.
26 Mr. Davey, if you could please take the
27| witness box. If the Registrar could provide Mr. Davey
28| with his affidavit. I’'m sorry, I guess he should be
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1 sworn first.

2 SHAWN ROBERT DAVEY, Affirmed:
3 THE REGISTRAR: Please state your name
4| and your occupation and address for the record.

5 THE WITNESS: Shawn Robert Davey. I'm
6| on disability and I live at 2459 Pauline Street,

7 Abbotsford, B.C.

8 THE REGISTRAR: Thank you.

9 MR. CONROY: Based on our earlier

10| discussion, I'm assuming we should put the affidavit to
11| him, have it marked as Exhibit 1, and then I’'1ll --

12 JUSTICE: That’s what we’ll do.

13 MR. CONROY: —-— turn him over to my

14| friend.

15 JUSTICE: Yes.

16 MR. CONROY: So I don’t know if Mr.

17| Registrar has that handy.

18 JUSTICE: It’'s tab 5.

19 MR. CONROY: Oh sorry, if you want it
20| from the book.
21 JUSTICE: There we go.
22 MR. CONROY: Now, it’s been produced
23| to him in the joint book of documents, but I think the
24| court wanted the original that’s on the file to be
25| marked as the exhibit.
26 JUSTICE: Well, the one that he’s got
27| 1is the court document and we’ll mark that. The
28| Registrar can mark it when we take a break.
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1 (AFFIDAVIT OF SHAWN DAVEY MARKED AS EXHIBIT 1)

2 MR. CONROY: So that we’'re on the same
3| page.

4 JUSTICE: We’'re all on the -- that

5| might be the most difficult part of this trial.

6 MR. CONROY: And given the procedure,
7| I've explained it to Mr. Davey so I turn him over to my
8| friend for cross-examination.

9 MR. BRONGERS: Thank you. Justice

10| Phelan, just as a housekeeping matter, I’'m wondering

11| what time the court likes to take its morning breaks.

12 JUSTICE: Well, we got started at --
13 normally we’'d break about 11:00, wherever it'’s

14 convenient sort of around 11:00, take 15 minutes, go

15| until 12:30, back again 1:30, take a break again around
16| 3:00 and finish up 4:30.

17 MR. BRONGERS: Thank you.

18 JUSTICE: Will that work?

19 MR. BRONGERS: Thank you, Justice
20 Phelan, so we’ll work towards 11:00, about half an hour.
21 JUSTICE: Yes.
22 MR. BRONGERS: From now before a break
23| can be taken.
24 Obviously, Mr. Davey, if you require a
25| break for whatever reason, please let the court know and
26| we certainly won’t object to that.
27 THE WITNESS: No problem.

28

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BRONGERS:
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1 Q Now, Mr. Davey, I'm going to be

2| asking you questions both about your own affidavit,

3| which you have in front of you, but also there are some
4| documents in one of our affidavits, the affidavit of Ms.
5| Ritchot, which contains your Health Canada file, your

6 licences, et cetera, correspondence that you had sent to
7| Health Canada. And I'm not sure which document would be
8| the easiest one to use for the court and for you.

9| Perhaps the joint book of documents, is that simplest?
10 JUSTICE: It probably is. I’ll make
11| sure it'’s okay with the Registrar. We have to keep on
12| his good books, you know.

13 MR. BRONGERS:

14 0 The joint book of documents, well,
15| Mr. Davey's affidavit is in Volume 1 starting at page

16| 226.

17 A Tab 5, yeah, correct.

18 0 And the exhibit to Ms. Ritchot’s

19 affidavit, which contains Mr. Davey's file, is in Volume
20| 6 starting at page 2005.
21 A Okay, well, I’'ll just get that
22| organized.
23 MR. BRONGERS: Mr. Conroy, I don’t
24| know if you have a copy you might be able to give to Mr.
25 Davey.
26 MR. CONROY: Of Volume 67?
27 MR. BRONGERS: Yes, of his Health

28

Canada file.
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1 JUSTICE: Or the Registrar could do

2| that. What page did you say?

3 MR. BRONGERS: It’s page 2005. The

4| pagination is on the bottom.

5 JUSTICE: Yes, I've got it, okay,

6| thank you. And what we could do, I guess, so that we’'re
7 able to follow from the transcript, would be to mark

8| that page as well as Exhibit 1-A, or any other document
9| that you’re going to put that’s not in the witness’s own
10| affidavit you’ll probably have to identify it, right, so
11| that we can follow where it is. And my suggestion, or
12| maybe a better suggestion, I'm happy to take ideas,

13| would be to say for example, Exhibit 1 and now you’'re

14| going to put something to him that’s outside his

15 affidavit, that’d be Exhibit 1-A, 1-B and so forth, so
16| that you would have the complete record of what was put
17| to each witness.

18 MR. BRONGERS: That is a possibility.
19| I'm wondering if it might be simpler --
20 JUSTICE: Okay.
21 MR. BRONGERS: -- to reference the
22| page numbers. In most cases here I will be using the
23| documents in the Health Canada affidavit to try and
24| refresh the witness’s memory. There is some
25| discrepancies in terms of the dates in which licenses
26| were issued, in terms of Mr. Davey’s evidence, and that
27| -- in the Health Canada affidavit. So I don’t think

28

it’s controversial that these documents exist.
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1 JUSTICE: No.

2 MR. BRONGERS: And they’ve been proven
3| through the Health Canada witness. So I’'m not sure they
4| need to be marked separately.

5 JUSTICE: Okay. So you’'re happy to

6| have it just refer to the page from the affidavit.

7 MR. BRONGERS: Yes, I am.

8 JUSTICE: Okay.

9 MR. BRONGERS: Thank you, Justice

10| Phelan.

11 JUSTICE: Is that all right with you?
12 MR. CONROY: Okay. I apologize for
13| continuing to say “My Lord”. I’'m just used to the

14| procedure --

15 JUSTICE: That’s okay. I can’t get
16| over it -- get used to it myself. But you’ve got so

17| used to -- it rolled off your lips.

18 MR. CONROY: That’s right.

19 JUSTICE: Even when they tried to
20| correct you and train you, and remedial training, it
21| never works. So don’'t worry about it.
22 MR. CONROY: Especially at my age, My
23| Lord.
24 JUSTICE: It’s not an insult.
25 MR. CONROY: No.
26 JUSTICE: I don’'t think.
27 MR. BRONGERS: I may take -- I may
28| take the same licence, Justice Phelan, My Lord.
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1 Q Mr. Davey, I'm going to begin by

2| asking you some questions about your background. Just

3 to confirm, you were born on June 8%, 1976. 1Is that

4| correct?

5 A That is correct.

6 0] So that would make you now 38 years
7| old, is that right?

8 A That is correct.

9 Q I understand from your affidavit

10| that you are presently living alone?

11 A I am.

12 0] You do not have any dependents?

13 A I have one son, but he’s 18 now, so
14 he doesn’t live with me, he lives with his mom, and

15| that’s no worry, so --

16 o] I understand from your first

17| affidavit that you were still paying child support

18| payments when you swore that in January.

19 A Yes. I still make child support
20| payments right now, because he’s in college but he’s not
21 19 yet, so -- I mean, yeah, I -- I believe that you

22| should give your son what it takes to get going, so.

23 o] I'm just trying to ascertain

24| whether you have a dependent or not. I understood from
25| your most recent affidavit that since he turned 18, you
26| no longer have to pay child support.

27 A Oh, I still pay it. I don’t have
28| to pay it, but I still do pay, so, yeah. Yeah.
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1 Q Now, you explained in your

2| affidavit that you are presently a disability pensioner?
3 A I am.

4 So you do not work --

5 A No, I don't.

6 (o) -- at this time.

7 A No.

8 Q It might be easier, Mr. Davey,

9| just for the Court Reporter, if you wait until I finish
10| answering --

11 A Oh, yeah. Fair enough.

12 o] -- asking the question, and then

13| you can answer after that. Thank you.

14 I also would like you to confirm that you
15| have not worked since the year 2000. Is that correct?
16 A That’s correct.

17 0] Turn now to ask you some questions
18| about your medical condition and your medical history.
19| And just to help you in terms of your reference, if you
20| could turn to your first affidavit.
21 A Yeah.
22 0] The one you swore in January of
23 last year, at paragraphs 5 and 6. That’s at 258 of the
24| Jjoint book of documents.
25 A Yeah.
26 o) If I understand correctly, you were
27 involved in a car accident on June 16*", 2000, right?

28

A That'’s correct.
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1 Q And that accident put you in a

2 coma?

3 A Yeah. Three and a half months.

4 o) And you suffered a severe brain

5| injury from that accident, did you not?

6 A They told me I wouldn’'t walk or

7| talk again, so yes, I -- yeah. Yeah.

8 Q And so you are in constant major

9| pain, am I right?

10 A Oh, yes. Oh, yes, oh, yes.

11 o] You also explained in your

12| affidavit at paragraph 6 that you have memory problems.
13 Is that correct?

14 A Oh, yeah. Yeah.

15 The way you explained it is that it
16| impacts on your ability to cultivate marijuana because
17| you can’t remember what you’ve done, or what you have to
18| do in relation to the cultivation. Is that right?

19 A That’s correct.
20 o) Mr. Davey, do you suffer from any
21| other medical issues beyond pain and memory problems?
22 A No.

23 0] And, Mr. Davey, has there been any
24| improvement in your medical condition since the year

25| 20007

26 A Oh, yeah.

27 (0] How so?

28 A Well, just in the fact of going
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1| with marijuana, and not with prescription medications.
2| I feel a hundred times better. I -- yeah, it’'s

3| substantial. I can’t compare it. I’'ve taken so many

4| medications, I was taking $6,000 worth of medications

5| before, and I whittled myself off all that and now it’s
6 just marijuana. And I feel awesome, awesome, awesome,
7 so.

8 Q I guess what I'm trying to ask is,
9| since 2000, when you suffered this car accident and the
10| brain injury, leaving aside how the marijuana is dealing

11| with your symptoms, has the brain injury healed over

12| that time, or is it fundamentally the same --

13 A Yes.

14 Q -- but you’re just handling it with
15| marijuana.

16 A It’s fundamentally the same, I'm

17| handling it with marijuana, yeah. Yeah.

18 0 It hasn’t gotten worse.

19 A No. ©No, no. No.

20 Q But it hasn’t gotten better either,
21 has it?

22 A No. ©No, no. No.

23 o] Is it your expectation, Mr. Davey,
24| that you will suffer from pain and memory problems for
25| the rest of your life?

26 A Rest of my life. Yes.

27 0] So I'm now going to ask you some
28| questions about your marijuana use.
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1 A Okay.

2 o) If you look at paragraph 6 of your
3] affidavit, on page 258 of the Joint Book of Documents,

4| you say here that you started to use medical marijuana

5| around the year 2006. Is that right?

6 A That was 2006 -- well, that was

7| when I got my prescription from -- from Dr. Goddard.

8| But before that, yeah, I mean I’'ve tried it, but it took
9| a little bit of getting used to, so -- yeah.

10 MR. CONROY: I'm sorry. You're

11| referring to paragraph 6 of the affidavit?

12 A Was it paragraph, page, with --

13 MR. BRONGERS: Sorry, I have the wrong
14 number, don’'t I?

15 My apologies. I don’t have the right

16| reference. It may be in another affidavit.

17 0] But what’s most important is,

18| we'’'re trying to ascertain when you started to use

19| medical marijuana.
20 A In GF Strong.
21 JUSTICE: Sorry, I missed that.

22 A That was -- I was in GF Strong when
23| I first started using marijuana, medical marijuana.

24 So --

25 MR. BRONGERS:

26 o) Do you remember what year that

27| would be?

28 A That would be 2002, I think.
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1 0 And was that -- was that the first

2| time you had used marijuana at all?

3 A Yeah, that was -- well, yeah,

4| actually, that was the first time, so, yeah.

5 0 So, did you use it recreationally

6| prior to the accident?

7 A No, no. No, no. But it definitely

8| made a difference now. So --

9 Q Now, according to your affidavit in
10| terms of being approved by Health Canada to use medical
11| marijuana, you say at paragraph 7, I believe -- yes.
12| That you started using it in 2007 -- or, sorry, that you
13| were first approved by Health Canada --

14 A Yes, yeah.

15 0 -- in 20072

16 A Yeah. Yeah. Yeah.

17 0] Okay. And here’'s where I'm going
18| to try and sort out the discrepancies between your

19| information and what’s in Health Canada’s records. And
20| I'll just set out for you first of all what Health

21| Canada’'s understanding of the situation is.

22 And this is all set out in the affidavit
23| of Jeannine Ritchot, My Lord. In her affidavit, page
24| 2006 of the Joint Book of Documents, paragraph 26.

25| Sorry, that’s the first licence.

26 JUSTICE: That’s the licence itself,
27| yes.

28 MR. BRONGERS: Yeah.
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1 Q Yeah. Actually it might be easier
2| 1if we look at Ms. Ritchot’s -- the text of her affidavit
3| itself, which is at pages 1,441 to 1,443.

4 A One thousand --

5 0] Which would be in volume 4. Page

6 1441, paragraph 25. TIf we look at paragraph 25 to 33 --
7| the witness doesn’t have it --

8 JUSTICE: The witness doesn’t have it.
9 MR. CONROY: Volume 4, page --

10 MR. BRONGERS: 1441.

11 MR. CONROY: 1441. We’ll have that

12| for you in just a minute.

13 A Yeah, no problem.

14 JUSTICE: Sorry, what page?

15 MR. BRONGERS: Page 1441.

16 o) If we look at paragraph 26 at the
17| bottom there. The last sentence: “He was issued an ATP
18| on July 16*, 2010 permitting him to possess 300 grams of
19| marijuana at any one time.” So, from Health Canada’s
20| perspective, you were first approved to possess
21| marijuana in July of 2010.

22 A Okay.

23 o] Would you agree with that?

24 A Sure. My memory sucks, so -- yeah.
25 (o) So then you were using medical

26| marijuana from 2002 until 2010 without it being formally
27| authorized by --

28 A No, I wasn't using it, like -- I
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1| used it -- when I was prescribed it, so, yeah.

2 Q But you were using it during that

3| period.

4 A I was using it, yeah, off and on,

5| just -- yeah.

6 0] Can you estimate how much you were
7| using in terms of grams?

8 A How much, with my prescription

9| medications I would say maybe a gram or two a day. But
10| that was having medical prescription on top of that. It
11| was not a good thing, so.

12 0] And how were you accessing that

13| marijuana?

14 A I was just getting it from friends.
15 How much was it costing you?

16 A About $10 a gram. Way back when,
17 so.

18 0 I'd now like to ask you some

19| questions about the amount of marijuana you’ve been
20| wusing since 2010 when you were in fact authorized
21| formally by Health Canada to do so. Now, your affidavit
22| doesn’t speak directly about the change in dosages over
23| the years, but I’'ll put to you the evidence from Health
24| Canada and see if you agree with it.
25 So our information is that when you were
26| first approved on July 16, 2010, your authorized dosage
27| was 10 grams per day.
28 A 10 grams a day, yeah.
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1 0 You would agree with that?

2 A Yeah.

3 0] And then the next year on July 19%,
4] 2011, it was increased from 10 grams per day to 12 grams
5| per day, is that correct?

6 A Yeah, that’s correct.

7 0 And then the year after that, on

8| July 19*", 2012, it was increased from 12 grams per day

9| to 14 grams per day, is that right?

10 A Yeah, that’s right.

11 0 And then a year after that, on

12| September 26, 2013, it was increased from 14 grams per
13| day to 25 grams per day, is that right?

14 A Yeah, that'’s right, yeah.

15 Q Now, turning to your second

16| affidavit at paragraph 25, Joint Book of Documents 240,
17| do you have that?

18 A I've got number 25.

19 0 Yeah, correct.
20 A Yeah.
21 0] So you say here that you do in fact
22| use approximately 25 grams of marijuana per day in

23| various forms, sometimes a little less, sometimes a

24| 1little more. Is that right?

25 A That's correct.

26 Q And you also testify that you use
27| marijuana approximately every half hour. 1Is that right?
28 A Yeah, that’s correct.
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1 0 So if I understand correctly, that
2| means if you’'re aware for 16 hours a day, you would be
3| using marijuana 32 times a day, is that about right?

4 A Sure. That’s right, yeah, yeah.

5 o] And just going by the amount of

6| marijuana you use, the 25 grams, dividing that by 32,

7 that means you’re using about three-quarters of a gram
8| each time?

9 A Yeah, about that. Half to a gram,
10| it is something -- yeah, yeah. I’'m not right on it

11| because I don’'t weight it up and find out every time,
12| but yeah, that’s about right, so yeah.

13 0] So can you take us through a

14| typical day of how you manage pain with marijuana from
15| when you wake up to when you go to sleep?

16 A When I wake up I have my vaporizer
17| going pretty much all day, and I eat a lot of it, pretty
18| much 90 percent now I eat. That’s when my prescription
19| was going so high, because I am not smoking -- I'm
20| smoking about one joint to the ten I used to smoke, so.
21| But I mean my cookies are between 12 and 14 grams a
22| cookie, so that puts me to bed every night, so.
23 o] Right. Now, just again trying to
24| understand why your dosages have changed so much over
25| time. You explained in your affidavit, I believe it'’s
26| at paragraphs 11 and 13(b) of this particular affidavit
27| here, that basically on the advice of your doctor you
28| started with a low dosage and you kept increasing it
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1| based on experience, is that right?

2 A Yeah, yeah, yeah, yeah.

3 Q And I'm just curious, because while
4| this might explain the increase of 2 grams per year in

5| the first few years, you almost doubled your dosage from
6| 14 grams to 25 grams in 2013. Did your doctor question
7| why you all of a sudden needed this enormous increase?

8 A He did. I told him because I eat,
9/ I'm eating it and I feel a hell of a lot better, and

10| yeah, it’'s awesome. I can’t compare. It doesn’t

11| compare to smoking. So, I mean as far as it goes for

12| me, all my body pain, that is the key, so yes.

13 o) So your doctor didn’t question you?
14 A Not a problem, not a problem. Dr.
15| Goddard had no problem with it.

16 o) The reason I ask is because your

17| counsel filed an expert report from a Dr. Caroline

18| Ferris. She indicated in her opinion that doses of 3 to
19 5 grams per day are adequate for most patients and that
20| she’s suspicious of doses around 20 grams per day or
21| higher. §So you’re saying your doctor wasn’t concerned
22| 1like she was?

23 A Not at all. Dr. Gwelling Goddard,
24| he -- all the outlines for all the laws going down, so
25| yeah, he knows what is on there and everything, so yeah,
26| that'’s it. No problem at all, so.

27 0 Mr. Davey, I now have some

28| questions about your methods of consuming marijuana.
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1| You'’ve explained that you now do it mostly through

2| eating, right?

3 A Yeah, yeah, 90 percent.

4 o) 90 percent you say.

5 A Yeah.

6 0 You say in your affidavit that you
7| do it largely through edibles. You mention oils and

8| butters, is that right?

9 A Oh yes, oh yes, oh yes.

10 o) But you also do smoke it from time
11| to time, right?

12 A Yeah. In the morning when I wake
13| up and when I don’t have time to let it heat up and get
14| the pain relief right away, so when yeah, I need it

15| right away, so that’s it.

16 (0] And in terms of when you are

17| ingesting it through your lungs, you said that you use a
18| vaporizer about 90 percent of the time and you smoke it
19| about 10 percent of the time. Is that still the case?
20 A Yeah, that’s for sure.
21 0 Now, your affidavit contains some
22| contradictory evidence about whether or not you juice
23| marijuana. In your first affidavit you said that you do
24| juice. In your second affidavit you said at paragraph
25| 25, which we have in front of you, that you do juice it.
26| But then in the next paragraph at 26 you say that “I
27| have not tried juicing yet.” That’s in the second to
28| last line of paragraph 26. Can you just clarify for the
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1| court whether or not you juice marijuana?

2 A Juicing I haven’'t -- I’'ve tried

3| Juicing once but I haven’t -- it didn’t do anything for
4| me as far as taking the pain away, and I mean it was --
5| it wasn’t quite the way I wanted to go about it, so.

6 0 So the short answer is you do not
7| juice marijuana.

8 A No, no, no, no, no.

9 Q And finally you also say that you
10| ingested marijuana using tea, is that correct?

11 A Oh yeah, oh yeah, yeah yeah.

12 0 So just to summarize then, we have
13 oils, butter, vaporizer, smoking joints, and tea. Is
14| that right?

15 A That’s it, that’s it.

16 o) Now, just so I understand, you have
17| explained in the affidavit the difference between the
18| usage techniques. You'’ve said that when you eat

19| marijuana it’s for long-term relief and sleeping
20| assistance.
21 A Mm-hmm.

22 0 And when you smoke or vape it it’s
23| for rapid onset relief.

24 A Yeah, yeah, yeah, that’s correct.
25 0 Is that still the case?

26 A Yeah.

27 0 I'd like to turn now to the strains
28| that you’ve been using.
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1 A Okay.

2 o) And I'm still on your second

3] affidavit, the one we’ve been looking at previously. At
4| paragraph 17 which starts at page 236.

5 A Okay.

6 0 The numbering is on the bottom.

7 Paragraph 17 at the bottom.

8 A Paragraph 17. I'm just trying to
9| find --

10 0 I'm looking at page 236 at the

11| bottom. Volume 1 of the Joint Book of Authorities

12 [sic].

13 A Okay.

14 Q So according to this paragraph you
15| say you currently use six strains of marijuana and I'1ll
16| just read them out for you.

17 A Yeah, yeah.

18 0 There is Bubba Kush.

19 A Mm-hmm.
20 o) There is Og Kush. There is Purple
21| Kush. There’s Northern Lights. There’s Roadkill Skunk
22| and there’s Pineapple Skunk. Is that right?

23 A That’s right, but I mean there’s
24| over 3,000 different strains now, so every strain that
25| treats different ways about things, so that’s it.

26 Q I'm just curious which ones you are
27| using. You swore this affidavit in August of last year
28| and you said that you currently use those six strains.
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1 A Right now I'm using just Bubba
2 Kush.

3 0 And if I understand from your

4| explanation, Bubba Kush is one of the strains that you
5| use in edibles, in oils and butter?

6 A That’s it, yeah.

7 0 And so you use that for the long-
8| term relief and sleeping assistance?

9 A Oh yeah, oh yeah. Yeah, can’t go
10| to sleep without it, so.

11 (0] Now, in your affidavit you

12| explained that when you need rapid onset relief and for
13| that you need to vaporize or smoke it, you were using
14| the Northern Lights or the Roadkill Skunk or the

15| Pineapple Skunk. You no longer use those?

16 A No, I use Bubba for all of it.

17| Bubba is getting, get the job done right, so yeah,

18| that’s it.

19 0 So you will smoke Bubba as well as

20 eat it.

21 A Oh yeah, yeah, yeah, yeah, yeah,
22| yeah.

23 Q Okay.

24 A I haven’'t tried out all the 3,000

25 different strains yet, but I will over time, so.
26 0 Now, in terms of understanding its

27| effectiveness, according to your evidence the only way

28| you do that is through what you call trial and error,
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1| right?

2 A Yeah.

3 0] So if I understand correctly,

4| you’ll try a strain and if it works to manage your pain,
5| then you keep using it, right?

6 A Well, yeah. If it works, I mean,

7| we can -- we will -- if it works, it’s got to work. Has
8| to do the job. So, that’s it.

9 o] And if you try a strain that

10| doesn’t work, then you stop.

11 A Then *we won’t go the next time,

12| no. Yeah. It would only be like two or three plants of
13| a new one, which you try it out, so -- yeah. And if it
14| works out, sure. Then we’ll go another five the next

15| time. But, I mean, yeah. There is -- it has to be --
16| it has to work right, so.

17 o] So just to be clear, some of the

18 strains that you’ve tried over the years haven’t worked
19| for you, right?
20 A No. No.
21 0] And by “haven’t worked”, can you
22| described what that’s like?
23 A They don’t relieve pain. They
24| don’'t relieve the pain. That’s it. Basically that’s it
25 right there. Because I have a hell -- a heck of a lot
26 of pain, so, yeah. That’s it.
27 Q Do using some of these strains that
28| don’t help you with your pain, does that ever make you
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1 feel worse?

2 A No, it doesn’t make me feel worse.
3| Just doesn’t take care of the pain, as bad as -- as

4| great, so, yeah.

5 o] Now, you’re down to just using

6| Bubba Kush, but before you were using Og Kush and Purple
7| Kush. Did you notice any difference in the

8| effectiveness between those three types of Kush?

9 A Oh, the three types of Kush, not

10| too much difference. They’'re basically -- they’re all
11| very good, very good strains. So, I mean, yeah. But

12| I'm going with something that’s only a three-star or a
13 two-star, yeah, I’'ve seen the difference in that, so --
14| yeah.

15 0 And what about the strains you were
16| using for vaping and smoking, the Northern Lights or

17| Roadkill Skunk, and the Pineapple strain?

18 A No, Roadkill Skunk, they’re all --
19 they were all decent. I mean, they weren’t bad. I'm
20| Jjust saying they weren’t as good as the Bubba, and they
21| weren’'t as good as the Kush. So, yeah. That's it.
22| Yeah. There might be something else coming out, you
23| never know. You’'ve got to try them out and see what
24| happens, so --
25 Q Now, Mr. Davey, have you ever tried
26| any of the cannabinoid medicines, either Sativex or
27| Nabilone?
28 A I don’t know what, what they were
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1 called, but my Dr. Fernandez, my family doctor, he

2| prescribed me a pill, THC pill, or something like that.
3| And then they sucked. I couldn’t stand them. Didn’t do
4| anything good for me at all, so, yeah. I didn’t even --
5 I had tried them once, that was it, so -- yeah.

6 0 I'll deal one by one. With

7| Sativex, you’'re not certain whether or not you tried it.
8 A No, I'm not certain, no.

9 0 And what about Nabilone?

10 A Not certain.

11 0 Are you certain whether or not you
12| tried it?

13 A Not certain. I mean, you know

14| what? I don’t like chemicals, and I don't -- I want --
15| I want something that is plant-based, 100 percent

16| organic. I don’t want crap chemicals, that’s it.

17 (0] Mr. Davey, I just have a few more
18| questions about the impact that marijuana use has had on
19| your medical conditions. You don’t keep a journal or --
20 A No.

21 Q -- a diary to keep track of the

22| marijuana you use, and its impact on your symptoms, do
23| you?

24 A No, no.

25 0] So when you explained to the court
26| the effectiveness of your marijuana that you use, this
27| is based on your memory, right?

28

A That’s it. That’s it. And for
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1| some -- I mean, for medical things, I have a good

2| memory. For some reason my memory works good for things
3| like that, so -- yeah.

4 o) So, your doctor never suggested to
5| you that keeping track of your use of marijuana --

6 A No, no.

7 Q -- and the impact it has on pain in
8| a journal might be helpful?

9 A No. Dr. Harbin, never. Never.

10 0 Is it your expectation that you

11| will need to use marijuana --

12 A That’s how I --

13 0 -- as medicine for the rest of your
14 life?

15 A That’s it. Rest of my life,

16| guaranteed. I've taken myself off so many medications
17| and I was -- man, I was not supposed to walk or talk

18| yet. This was -- I was supposed to be in 24/7 care for
19| the rest of my life. Now I drive, I own acreages. I
20| have -- I do everything I want to do. And that’s all
21| thanks to marijuana. That’s it right there, so --
22 0] And if your symptoms were somehow
23| to disappear, though, you would stop using marijuana,
24| wouldn’t you?
25 A If my symptoms were to disappear,
26| yes. But they’'re not going to disappear. I already
27 know that for a fact, so, yes.
28 o) You wouldn’t continue to use it for
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1 recreational purposes?

2 A No, no. No.

3 0 Okay, I'd like to turn now to

4| marijuana cultivation and your experience with growing
5| and accessing marijuana.

6 This might actually be a good time for a
7| break.

8 JUSTICE: I was wondering if you were
9| going to. Why don’'t we take 15 minutes?

10 A Fifteen? Yeah.

11 JUSTICE: Thank you.

12 (PROCEEDINGS ADJOURNED AT 10:56 A.M.)

13 (PROCEEDINGS RESUMED AT 11:19 A.M.)

14 JUSTICE: Mr. Brongers.

15 MR. BRONGERS: Thank you, Justice

16| Phelan.

17 0 Mr. Davey, I would now like to turn
18| to marijuana cultivation and your experience with

19| growing and accessing marijuana, and I'm going to spend
20| a bit of time trying to confirm the history and extent
21| of your experience because your affidavit is not
22| entirely clear on this and there are some details that
23| are contradicted by the Health Canada files. So it’s
24 just more of a housekeeping matter to get the dates
25| right for the court’s benefit.
26 But let’s start with the way you've
27| explained it in your first affidavit at paragraph 7,
28| which is page 258 of the Joint Book.
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1 A Okay.

2 Q So you say in this paragraph that

3| you started using a designated grower in 2007 and then

4| you switched to a second grower at some unspecified time
5| after that, and then after that you decided to produce

6| on your own, right?

7 A Yeah. I had -- no one I tried to

8| get to grow for me worked out at all. I was very

9| disappointed in everyone, so.

10 o) Okay. And then at paragraph 11, if
11| we move forward, you explain that at some unspecified

12| time you met Mr. Alexander, right?

13 A He’'s my neighbour, yeah.

14 Q And then you two decided to grow at
15| the same production site, right?

16 A That’s it. And I haven’t had a

17 problem at all, ever, so.

18 0 And this site which -- is it a shed
19| or a barn? How would you describe it?
20 A It'’s a -- yeah, it’s a barn. 1It’'s
21| big. It’'s a big separate building, so yeah.
22 0 And this is on property owned by
23| Mr. Alexander.
24 A By -- yeah, by Vickers. What’'s
25 that? By who?
26 0 This is -- the barn is located on
27| property that’s owned by Mr. Alexander, right?
28 A No, no, no, no. It’s not owned by
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1| Mr. Alexander, it’'s owned by his friends, so. We rent
2 it off him, so.
3 0] You rent the property, I
4| understand.
5 A Yeah, yeah, yeah.
6 0 And at about the time you decided
7 to grow together, I understand then you decided to move
8| into a house on that -- on the property?
9 A That’s on the property and
10| everything, oh yeah, yeah, yeah.
11 0] Okay. So just so I understand
12| correctly, you and Mr. Alexander are leasing the
13| property together, the entire property?
14 A That’s it, that’s it.
15 0 And there is a house on that
16| property that you live in?
17 A Yeah. Yeah. House and a separate
18 shop, yeah.
19 Q And you pay rent to this other
20| individual --
21 A Yeah.
22 o] -- to live on that house?
23 A Yeah, I deal with Brian but Brian
24| deals with the individuals, so yeah.
25 (o) So just to clarify then, so Mr.
26| Alexander leases the property and you lease the right to
27| 1live in that house from Mr. Alexander.
28 A Live in it, yeah, yeah. Yeah,
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1| yeah, yeah.

2 Q Now, going back to paragraph 7 of

3| your affidavit, you say that your first designated

4| grower was unreliable in terms of ensuring a continuous
5| safe supply? 1Is that right?

6 A Yeah, yeah, yeah.

7 Q You say the quality of marijuana

8 that person grew was very poor?

9 A Very poor, yeah.

10 0 Are you saying then it was not

11| effective in treating your pain?

12 A Not at all, not nearly, yeah, yeah,
13 I was —-- I had to consume lots of it to even come close
14| to -- I didn’t -- how much I needed, so it was very

15| disappointing, so.

16 0 Were you worried that it might even
17| be unsafe, contaminated perhaps?

18 A Not unsafe, no, but just not up to
19| par, so.
20 Q You also say in this paragraph that
21| you were suspicious that this person was abusing their
22| 1licence to grow marijuana. Do you mean by that that you
23| suspected that the person was diverting marijuana to the
24| illicit market?
25 A I suspect that it was -- he grew
26| better stuff and then came back and gave me the crap and
27| gave the other people he was growing for crap too. So
28| yeah, it was bad news, so.
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1 Q But when you say he was abusing it,
2| you were also thinking he was selling it illegally.

3 A Well yeah, I didn’t know where it

4| was going. I knew I didn’t get any of it, so I got

5| crap, so, and that was for my medical purposes, so yeah.
6| And that did it for me as far as not wanting anyone else
7 to grow for me because I -- yeah.

8 o] Except you did in fact get someone
9| else to grow for you. You explain in your paragraph 7
10| here that you had a second grower, right?

11 A Elton, yeah, yeah, yeah and they

12| -- none of the growers worked out good so I, I --

13 0 You said that that person was also
14| problematic. That the quality wasn't up to what you

15| require in terms of strength and effectiveness?

16 A And it wasn't every month. I

17| wasn't get what I needed, so how's it? I -- I'll just
18| -- very disappointed, so.

19 0 Were you also worried that that
20| person was abusing their licence?
21 A I, I didn't know. I didn't know
22| where it went. I mean I, I honestly I talked to -- with
23| Brian, I talked to Brian and I get -- I know the gist of
24| everything. I live on the property, I know everything.
25| Everything that goes through there I see and I know
26| everything goes on. So nothing, nothing goes wrong
27| there and I get exactly what I need every time and he
28| gets exactly what he needs every time, so.
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1 0 So let's, let's turn to Health

2| Canada's records, which are at Exhibit C to the Ritchot
3| affidavit. That's at page 2,005 and following in Volume
4 6?

5 A 2,005, 2,006. Yeah.

6 0 So if we start on page 2,006 --

7 A Yeah.

8 0 And 2,007.

9 A Yeah.

10 o) We see here that you were issued
11| an authorization to possess, which was paired with your
12| first designated grower on July 16, 2010. Would you
13| agree with that?

14 A I, I don't know. Yeah. I --

15 o] You see the date of issue is in

16| the middle of the page on the right-hand side next to
17| the signature.

18 A Date of issue 2010-07-16, yeah.

19 o) So would you agree with me that in
20| fact you started using a designated grower in 2010 and
21| not 2007 as you said in your affidavit?

22 A Yeah, yeah it was 2010, yeah.

23 0] Then if you could turn to page

24| 2,060, 2-0-6-0.

25 A Yeah.

26 0 If I can describe that letter, it
27| appears to be a letter that you wrote to Health Canada
28| asking that your first designated grower be revoked and
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1| that you be issued a personal production licence to

2| produce for yourself. Is that what this letter --

3 A That's it. Yeah.

4 o) And I see the date on that letter
5| is May 4*, 2011. Would you agree?

6 A Mm-hmm, yeah.

7 0 Okay. Then if we could turn to

8| page 2,043. 20-43.

9 A 20-43, yeah.

10 o) This appears to be a personal use
11| production licence issued in your name and the date is
12| July 19", 2011. So would you agree that you were issued
13| a personal use production licence on that date?

14 A Yeah, yeah.

15 0] If you could turn to page 2,0609.
16| This appears to be a personal use production licence

17 issued in your name with the date of July 19*", 2012.

18 A Mm-hmm.

19 0] So it appears that your personal
20| wuse production licence was effectively renewed on that
21| date, would you agree with that?
22 A That's -- yeah.
23 0] Okay. And then if you could go to
24| page 2092.
25 A Okay.
26 o) This appears to be another
27| personal use production licence issued to you. The date
28| of issue is November 1°%, 2012.
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Mm-hmm.

Would you agree that that was

another renewal of your licence?

A

0
page 2,153.

A

Q

That's it.

Okay. Then if you could turn to

Yeah.

And look at that as well as page

2,154, the next page.

A

Q

Yeah.

If I understand correctly this is

an authorization to possess issued to you paired with a

designated personal production licence for your second

designated grower.
say their names.

A

18, 2013.

A

Q

I don't think there's any need to

Yeah.

And this was issued on February

Yeah.

So would you agree that on

February 18", 2003 you changed from being a personal

producer back to being someone who had a designated

grower --

s O » O p

Yeah.

-- grow marijuana for you.
Yeah.

Right?

Yeah.
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1 0 And then the final licence that we
2 have on record is at 2,171, and 2,172.

3 A Mm-hmm.

4 o) Would you agree with me that these
5 licenses show that you returned to personal use

6| production on September 26, 2013?

7 A Yeah.

8 0 Is that correct?

9 A Yeah. Yeah.

10 o) So if I understand correctly, it
11| was at this point that you started growing on -- or

12| collectively with Mr. Alexander, right?

13 A And I have not a problem since

14| then. 1I’'ve been loving life, so, yes.

15 Q Okay. So again, just to try and
16| make it easy for the court, I’'ll just try and summarize
17| these dates, and hopefully you’ll agree with them. That
18| from July 16*", 2010 when you first were authorized to
19| possess marijuana by Health Canada --
20 A Mm-hmm.
21 0 -- to July 19*", 2011, you used a
22| designated grower, right?
23 A Yes. Yes.
24 0 And then from July 19%", 2011 to
25 February 18", 2013, you grew for yourself, using a
26 | personal production licence.
27 A It didn’'t work out very well with
28| that, so, yeah. Yeah. I tried, but it didn’t work out,
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1 so —-- yeah.

2 0 And then from February 18, 2013 to
3| September 26", 2013, you went back to using a designated
4| grower, right?

5 A Yeah. Yeah, and that didn’t work

6| out either, so -- yeah.

7 0 And then on September 26, 2013 to
8| the present, you have been growing for yourself using a
9| personal production licence with Mr. Alexander'’s help,
10| right?

11 A I am happy as heck. I do not have
12| a single problem with it. Everything is 110 percent

13| awesome.

14 Q So you're saying yes, that is the
15| case.

16 A Oh, yes. Yeah. Yes, yes, yes.

17 0 Now, given those dates, and

18| particularly September 26 of 2013, when you’re actually
19 authorized to grow for yourself, at the same property
20| that Mr. Alexander was using to grow, can you estimate
21| when you first met Mr. Alexander and decided to produce
22| marijuana together?

23 A When I first met him, and decided
24| to grow with him, was probably about a year and a half
25| ago. But I mean, that wasn’t when I first met him. I
26| met him a couple of times before that. But just because
27| it was a neighbour, right? And I own the house where we
28 lived for eight years before that. So --
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1 0] But compared to September 26, 2013,
2| when you were finally authorized to grow on that

3| property, did you decide with Mr. Alexander to grow

4| together maybe six months before that?

5 A I would say maybe a month before.

6| Yeah.

7 0 Okay. Before asking you about your
8| current production facility that you operate with Mr.

9| Alexander, I'd like to ask you how you accessed medical
10| marijuana before that time. And again, going through

11 these dates, remember that we have the first period of
12| July 16, 2010 to July 19*", 2011. That was with your

13| first designated grower that you had some issues with,
14| right?

15 A Yeah. I got -- I mean, I got -- he
16| gave me what he grew, but it wasn’t -- it wasn’t any

17| good. So I basically, I mean, yeah, I was getting

18| jewed. So, I was not getting a good end of the deal.

19| So --
20 Q So, just to confirm, during that
21| time, 2010 to 2011, your authorized dosage was 10 grams
22| per day, right?
23 A Yeah. Yeah. Yeah.
24 0] And how much were you paying the
25| designated grower for your marijuana during that time?
26 A I was paying him -- it was about a
27| hundred bucks an ounce.
28 0 So he didn’t charge you in grams --
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1 A No, no.

2 0 It was $100 an ounce.

3 A Yeah, yeah.

4 o) And what services would he provide
5| for that? Just the growing and the trimming and the

6| packaging --

7 A Yeah, and I would get a finished

8| product that was completely done. And I wasn’'t -- I --
9| he didn’t let me ask any questions, regarding -- I

10| wouldn’'t get any answers for anything. And yeah, it was
11| bunk. I wasn’t impressed with it at all. I mean --

12 0 So, just so I understand, he would
13| grow the marijuana on his property. And how would he
14| deliver the marijuana to you?

15 A I would go and pick it up. I would
16| go pick it up from his house, 1like.

17 o] And when you would pick it up from
18| him, it was bagged for you, he would just give you --
19 A Bagged -- garbage bags, he’d give
20| me. There’'s a garbage bag with 12 pounds in it, and
21 that’s it, so.
22 (0] How often would you go to pick up
23| your supply from him?
24 A About every three months.
25 0 And how much would you buy at a
26| time?
27 A About a pound.
28 A pound every three months?
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1 A Yeah. Back then. But it’s got

2| much -- we use it much more now, so, yeah.

3 Q Yes. I was just asking you

4| about --

5 A Yeah.

6 0 -- what you were doing then, during

7| that period.

8 A Yeah, yeah.

9 0] So, one pound every three months.
10| All right, moving on to your second production period,
11| this would be July 19*", 2011 to February 18, 2013 when
12| you decided to drop your designated grower and grow on
13| your own.

14 A Mm-hmm.

15 0 Now, during this time I understand
16| your dosage was 12 grams per day from 2011 to 2012, and
17| then 14 grams per day from 2012 to 2013.

18 A Mm-hmm.

19 0 Does that make sense>

20 A Yeah, that makes sense, yeah.

21 Q And looking at your licences it

22| said you were authorized to have up to 59 plants up to
23 July 19*", 2012, and then in the second year you went up
24| to 69 plants.

25 A Yeah, yeah.

26 0 Does that make sense?

27 A Yeah, makes sense.

28 o) Could you describe the production
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1| facility you were using during that time for yourself?

2 A At Jim’'s place it was a separate

3| barn from his house. So it was basically the same as

4| the one I have now but it was different, so.

5 0 So you grew in somebody else’s --

6 A I didn’t grow. That was him

7| growing for me in his own shop. I didn’t have access to
8| it at all, nothing. So this, Brian and I have total

9 access to whatever I needed, so.

10 0 Except during this period you

11| weren’'t authorized to use a designated grower. You were
12| only authorized to produce for yourself.

13 A Oh. Hmm.

14 Q I'm just interested in how you grew
15| for yourself during this period, or are you telling me
16| that you did not?

17 A I tried, I tried growing for

18| myself. It didn’t work out, so, for when I tried that
19| was not a good thing, so.
20 o) Okay, let’s focus on your efforts
21| to try and grow for yourself during this time 2011 to
22 2013.
23 A I tried to grow in my garage and it
24| was, yeah, bad news, so.
25 (o) So could you explain what steps you
26| took to set up that facility in your garage? What did
27| you do?
28 A I just polyed off the garage and
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1| put down some poly on the floor and got everything, the
2| lights set up to the rafters and that was it, so.

3 Q How much did it cost you to set up
4| that facility in your own garage?

5 A That was about $2,000.

6 0] Could you repeat the answer please?
7 A About $2,000.

8 Q How much time did it take you to

9| set it up?

10 A I'm not -- about 7 to 10 hours,

11 about that.

12 Q Do you remember approximately how
13| much it cost to run it every month?

14 A No, I don’'t, no, no, I don’'t. My
15| memory sucks so, yeah.

16 o) And what safety precautions did you
17| take with respect to that facility in terms of security?
18 A I tried the one time and I didn’t
19| go up again. It was just the one time I tried it and
20 that was it, so. I took it all down after that, so
21 after I tried it once that was it, so.
22 0 So by trying it once did you mean
23| -- how long did you actually work on it? One month?
24 Two months?
25 A I worked on it, it was about two
26| months, altogether, but I knew it was coming down, it
27| wasn'’'t any good, so.
28 0 So you tried one cycle?
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1 A One cycle, yeah, yeah.

2 o) I assume you never had that

3| operation inspected by anyone?

4 A No, no, no, no, no.

5 0] Now, of course you were authorized
6| to grow up to 59 plants, but how many plants did you

7 actually try to grow?

8 A It was like 59 plants.

9 o] How many strains?

10 A One.

11 Q And were you able to grow those
12| plants successfully?

13 A No. No.

14 0] What happened to the plants?

15 A They died. There was no bud, there
16| was just -- terrible, it was terrible.

17 o) So you weren’t able to use any of
18| the marijuana you had used?

19 A No, no, no, no.
20 o) Do you remember if you had any
21| issues with odour?

22 A No. No.

23 Do you know what a grow box is?
24 A I do, oh yeah, yeah.

25 Q Did you use a grow box?

26 A No, no, no.

27 0 Why not?

A

28

I didn’'t have access to one at the
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1| time, so I was just -- I had a separate garage in my

2 house, so.

3 Q Now, going to the third production
4| period before your current one.

5 A Yeah.

6 0 This is February 18, 2013 to

7 September 26, 2013 when you went to a second designated
8| grower, during this time, if I understand correctly,

9| your dosage was 14 grams per day.

10 A Yeah, half ounce, yeah.

11 o] And how much were you paying this
12| designated grower for your marijuana?

13 A It was about the same, about 100
14| bucks an ounce.

15 Q And what services did she provide
16| to you? The same as the previous grower or --

17 A It was, yeah, I mean he didn’t work
18| out well either. That was my other licence that got --
19 I cancelled too, so, yeah.
20 0 Just to be clear, according to
21| Health Canada’s records, and again I don’t think it’s
22| helpful to say the name here, but it was a female
23| grower.
24 A A female. Are you sure? I don't,
25 I don't --
26 0 Let’s look at the licence to see if
27| that helps your recall or your memory. If you look at
28| pages 2,153 and 2,154.
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1 A Oh, that was my buddy’s mom, Mike

2| Jones'’'s mom. That was my buddy’s mom. It was her house
3| it was at, so yeah.

4 o) So you recall now that she was your
5| designated grower.

6 A Yeah, yeah, yeah, yeah. I just

7 dealt with him. It was his mom who was the home owner,
8 so.

9 o] So, but she didn’t actually grow

10| it.

11 A No, no, no.

12 0 No, so it was your friend.

13 A Yeah.

14 Q Okay. And so your friend, just to
15| be clear, so your friend wasn’t actually authorized

16| directly. The mother was but she didn’t --

17 A Mother was. Yeah. Well, the

18| mother came there and she had -- I saw her there but not
19 often, so, and I mean that was another site that I got
20| ripped off on, so.
21 Q Right. ©So in terms of how you
22| would get your product, how often would you go to pick
23| it up?
24 A That product I went once and I got
25| nothing. I got bad news, so.
26 Q How much did you buy that one
27| time?
28 A It was about 8 ounces, but it was
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1| not -- it was all seedy and it was terrible. I mean

2| yeah. So.

3 Q So would you say it was

4| ineffective in treating your pain?

5 A Ineffective, yeah, yeah, yeah,

6| yeah, yeah. Yeah, for sure.

7 Q Now, from your description of how
8| you were able to supply marijuana through these, these
9| three sources, your first designated grower who you

10| didn't, didn't trust. You were worried about him

11| abusing the licence.

12 A Mm-hmm.

13 0 The second period when you were
14| trying to grow for yourself but you weren't able to.
15 A Yeah.

16 0 And the third period where you

17| only went once and it was also ineffective. You must
18| have been accessing marijuana from other sources during
19| the period, were you not?
20 A Oh, yeah, yeah, yeah, yeah, yeah.
21 Q And how did you access that?
22 A I would just buy it.
23 0] You were buying on the black
24| market?
25 A Yeah, yeah, yeah, yeah. ©Not much
26 relief, so.
27 0 Pardon me?
28 A I needed pain relief, so yeah,
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1 whatever, however I can get it, so.

2 Q And how much were you buying on

3| the black market during --

4 A About an ounce at a time.

5 o) And how often would you buy one

6| ounce?

7 A About every three days.

8 o) Buy one ounce every three days?

9 A Yeah.

10 o) And what sort of prices were you
11| paying during that time?

12 A About 100 to 125 an ounce.

13 0 And how would you describe the

14| quality of the black market marijuana you were

15| purchasing?

16 A It was decent. I mean it wasn't
17| anything compared what I have -- what I grow myself now.
18| That is -- how I have it all set up now is very good,

19| very good. So I mean yeah, there's no comparison, so.
20 0 I understand, but was it, was it
21| effective in managing your pain, this black market
22| marijuana or not so good?
23 A It was, it was -- yeah it was
24| effective but it was costing me too much money, so yeah,
25| that was it.
26 Q All right, Mr. Davey, let's turn
27| to your, your current production facility. The one that
28| you and, and Mr. Alexander --
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1 A Yeah.

2 0 -- have set up in this, in the

3| barn. So the questions I'm going to ask you relate to
4| the answers you gave last summer --

5 A Okay.

6 0 -- in your second affidavit. So
7| if you could turn to pages 228 to 256. That's your

8| affidavit number 2. Okay, so we'll start at pages 242
9| and 243.

10 A Okay.

11 0] Actually we'll start with

12| paragraph 32. This is where you list of all the

13| equipment that you and Mr. Alexander bought in order t
14| buy -- or sorry, in order to grow marijuana at your

15| facility. Do you see the list that you --

16 A Yeah, yeah.

17 0 -- wrote up there?

18 A Yeah.

19 o) Now, you haven't totalled up the
20| amount, but using a calculator I came up with a total
21 $27,040.
22 A Okay.
23 o) Would you agree with that amount?
24 A Yeah.
25 0 So it cost you and Mr. Alexander
26| $27,040 to buy this equipment that you needed to produ
27| marijuana, right?
28 A Yeah, but -- yeah. Brian, Brian

o

of

ce
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1| had -- all, all sorts of it came into play with when he
2| took down grow show, so.

3 0 I'm sorry?

4 A When he took down grow shows. He
5| was, he was a -- he was a take apart grown operations

6| and yeah, sort of got some of the equipment, so.

7 0 So he was able to get some of the
8| equipment --

9 A Yeah.

10 o) —-- more cheaply --

11 A Yeah, yeah.

12 0 -- than would have been ordinarily
13| the case.

14 A Yeah, yeah, yeah.

15 Paragraph 33 of your affidavit

16| here.

17 A Yeah.

18 0 You said that given the fact that
19| there was already an existing building suitable for
20| production in place, the structural work that had to be
21| done was fairly limited, right?
22 A Yeah.
23 o] You just had to put up black
24| plastic on the walls because there's no windows.
25 A Right.
26 o) A half inch plywood on the ceiling
27| to keep the insulation from falling down. Said you
28 framed one wall, you painted the floor, you installed
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1| hand railings, installed two security doors. Does that
2| more or less describe what you needed to get done?
3 A Yeah, yeah.
4 o) Can you tell me approximately what
5| the size of this, this barn is? 1Is it sort of 30 feet
6| by 40 feet?
7 A It's about 25 by 40.
8 0 So about 1,000 square foot?
9 A Yeah.
10 0 Do you know the value of this
11| building or how much it would have cost to build it?
12 A I don't know the, I don't the
13| value. I have no idea.
14 0 I'll ask Mr. Alexander --
15 A Yeah.
16 o) -- that question. In paragraph 37
17| of the affidavit.
18 A Mm-hmm.
19 Q You explain -- you provide a list
20| of the growing supplies you need to grow medical
21| marijuana. You've got dirt, fertilizer, CO, gas fill
22| and natural pesticides, and you’ve provided some monthly
23 estimates for how much those costs. And again, you
24| haven’t totaled the amount, but using a calculator I
25 came up with $290 a month.
26 A That works. Yeah.
27 Q Would you agree with that?
28 A Yeah. Yeah. Roughly 300 bucks a
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1| month, yeah.

2 o) And at paragraph 40 you say that

3| you don’t insure your marijuana, Or your marijuana grow
4| equipment, is that right?

5 A No. No.

6 0 Do you know if Mr. Alexander

7| insures it?

8 A No, I don’t think he does, but

9| you’d have to ask him.

10 o) And do you have an arrangement with
11| him in relation to insurance should something happen to
12| your operation?

13 A No, we don’'t -- we’'re just friends,
14| that's all matters.

15 Q Okay. Paragraph 41, you estimate
16| your electricity costs for the grow is about $1,000 for
17| the outbuilding. You say you share that with Mr.

18| Alexander. So would it be fair to say you spend about
19 $500 a month on electricity?
20 A Yeah.
21 0] Paragraph 42, you say that you are
22| on a water well, so you have no water expenses, is that
23| right?
24 A That is it.
25 0 Yeah. ©Now, do you have to treat
26| the water to make is suitable for use with your plants?
27 A Oh yeah.
28 0 And how much is that?
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1 A But T don’'t -- I don’'t -- I don’t
2| treat any of the water, that is all Brian’s -- that is
3| Brian’s job, so yeah, that's it.

4 o] So there is some cost in terms of
5| treating it, but I’1l1l ask Mr. Alexander about --

6 A Yeah, ask him, ask him, he knows

7 all that, so. Yeah.

8 o) Okay. Now, at paragraph 43 of your
9| affidavit, you describe the security system that you

10| have set up to protect the marijuana, and just

11| summarizing here, it appears there is a fence or a gate
12| that goes out that surrounds the building? Is that

13| right?

14 A Surrounds the property, and then
15| the building has some like -- it would be easier to

16| break into a bank, instead of this building. Its -- it
17| 1is built right, so -- oh yeah.

18 o] You say you put in there motion

19 detectors, sirens --
20 A Yeah, yeah.

21 Cameras.

22 A Yeah.

23 o) Steel doors.

24 A Yeah.

25 0 And if I understand correctly, you
26| say the cost of setting up that security system was

27 $3,000, is that right?

28

A Yeah. Yeah.
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1 0 And you also have it monitored,

2| right?

3 A Yeah, oh yeah, oh yeah, oh yeah.

4 (0] And that costs you $600 a year to

5| have it monitored?

6 A Yeah. Yeah. Yeah.

7 0 Now, paragraph 45 you say you don't
8| have any issues with odours, and you explain that by

9| saying that because the production site is on five

10| acres, it is a considerable distance away from --

11 A We have no neighbours.

12 0 Right.

13 A Yeah.

14 0] And you also take some steps to

15| control the odour, you use charcoal filters, right?

16 A Yeah. Yeah. Whatever we gotta do.
17 0] And do you use grow boxes here?

18 A No, no.

19 0 Why not?
20 A Because we are a big open grow
21| area. That is all set up for just that. It's just set
22| up for that. So, it's one big grow box is what it is,
23 so -- oh yeah.
24 0 Paragraph 49 of your affidavit, you
25 say that you spent about 20 to 25 hours every month on
26| cultivation?
27 A Yeah.
28 o) Is that still an accurate estimate?




Allwest Reporting Ltd

Vancouver, B.C. 75

1 A That is right -- accurate, yeah.

2 o) But you’d agree, though, you’d have
3| to spend much more than that if Mr. Alexander --

4 A Oh, man, I wouldn’'t be able to do
5| it myself. There is no way. There is no way. There is
6| no way. I -- yeah, Brian helps me out for sure, yeah.
7| But we work together, so we get it all done every time.
8 So.

9 0] At paragraph 52 --

10 A Yeah.

11 0] You explained the steps you take
12| for growing, and I won't go through it, its written

13 down, it's in evidence. But I was interested in a

14| couple of aspects of it. One is you say that you do a
15| hand count of the plants to keep track of them, right?
16 A Yeah. Yeah.

17 0 What does that mean?

18 A Well, you just -- you just count,
19| right? You just -- that’s how many -- 10 across, 10
20 long, that is 100 plants, right? Finger, one, two,
21 three, four, five, that's hand count. That's it.
22 0 But you don’t keep any written
23| records --
24 A No, no written records, no, no.
25 0 Okay.
26 A That's just what the space is for,
27| so that’s it. That’s --
28 0 And you don’'t keep a detailed
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1| record of how each plant is doing --

2 A No.

3 0 —— 1in terms of its health --

4 A No. No. All -- they’re all the

5 same strains, so we basically they all come out -- I

6| mean, not exactly the same, but pretty darn close, so.

7 0 Now, and we asked you a question

8| about how you deal with the risk of cross-contamination
9| between strains, or other organic matter. You explained
10| that you sealed the two rooms. Are there actually,

11| there’s two rooms with --

12 A Oh, yeah. Oh, yeah, yeah. They're
13 completely sealed, yeah. Yeah, yeah.

14 0 And so does -- if I understand

15| correctly, is one room for your production and one room
16| is for Mr. Alexander’s production?

17 A We might share it, but we have it
18 so it comes down every month, right? We have two rooms
19| going, so we can bring it down every month. We have our
20| prescription every month, so --
21 0] Okay. But are you not concerned
22| that there might be some cross-contamination between
23| strains, your strains and Mr. Alexander’s?

24 A No. No. No.

25 0 Now, at paragraphs 53 and 54 --

26 A Mm-hmm.

27 Q —-- you explain that you'’ve never

28 suffered any damage from any sources: water, mould,
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1 insects, fire --
2 A None.
3 0 —-- structural. Is that right?
4| You’'ve never had any of those type of problems?
5 A None. Yeah, never. And we do it
6| right. Everything’s done right, all the time. There is
7| never any slip-ups. Never letting anything go over, or
8| not -- everything gets cleaned up and done right, every
9 time, so.
10 0 But again, you say that you don’t
11| keep any logs or journals about your operation, right?
12 A No.
13 0 You don’t document your operation
14| in any way.
15 A No, nothing.
16 No. Why didn’t you bother to do
17| this?
18 A Why? Because I remember it. And
19| Brian remembers it too, so we talk, and we figure it
20| out, and get it all done that way.
21 0] Are you not concerned about the
22| possibility of an inspection by Health Canada, or the
23| police?
24 A Well, we -- we don’t go over our
25| quantity. We are -- we use what we are allowed to use,
26| and there’s no selling anything, there’s no nothing. We
27| are honest and we’'re straight up. I use this for only
28| the medication, so that’s all I have to say about it.
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1 I mean, I felt like crap from all these

2| other medications that I get -- I was getting them from
3| pharmacies, and man, nothing’s worked better than

4| organic plants. The best thing on earth, I think

5| personally, so.

6 0 Paragraph 56 of your affidavit, you
7| estimate that you were producing about 25 grams per day.
8 A Yeah.

9 0] But if I understand correctly, you
10| weren’t actually weighing it.

11 A No.

12 0 You don’'t have scales. So how do
13| you -- how do you come up with that estimate that you’'re
14| producing 25 grams or so --

15 A It was using how much I need. If I
16| can get away with how much I need for a day, then I

17| don’'t weigh it, right? 1It’s all -- basically we just

18| throw it in a bag or in the bucket, and we use what we
19| need. There is no need to weigh it, so -- we’re not
20| selling it, so --
21 Q I mean, this might be a good time
22 for me --
23 A If you want us to weigh it, you're
24| selling it. So -- that’s -- that’s not what we’re
25| doing, so.
26 Q This might be a good time to ask
27| you about the cookies. You say that you were -- you
28| basically use about 12 to 14 grams to make cookies --
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1 A A cookie. One cookie.
2 -- each day. To make one single
3| cookie.
4 A I make more than one single cookie,
5| but I make -- my cookie is used -- yeah, between 12 and
6| 14 grams of butter a day in marijuana. That'’s every
7| cookie. I need it to go to sleep. If I don’t have
8| that, I can’'t go to sleep and it drives me nuts.
9 0 So if you’'re -- it’s not dried
10| marijuana --
11 A It’'s dried marijuana. That’s it.
12| Yeah.
13 0 But you said it was in a butter.
14 A That’s me making it from dried
15| marijuana into a butter.
16 o) I understand. So you’ve -- you
17| bake one -- one big cookie every day?
18 A No, no. No, no. I make probably
19| about 40 to 50 cookies every time.
20 o) How often do you make them?
21 A About a month and a half, I make a
22| batch every month to a month and a half, a batch.
23 o) So, 12 to -- the 12 to 14 grams
24| makes enough for 40 to 50 days?
25 A That’s one cookie. For one cookie.
26 12 to 14 grams is enough for one cookie.
27 Q Okay. And you make that cookie --
28| 1like, every 40 days?
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1 A And T make -- I make -- I make 50

2| to 60 cookies in a batch. So I have 50 to 60 cookies to
3| deal with, to get me by for 60 days, right?

4 And then on top of that I use -- that’s

5| just -- that’s just to go to sleep. I mean, that’s just
6| my getting to sleep. If you throw the pain in there in
7 the day, I use, yeah, probably another half ounce at

8 least, so, I'm using an ounce a day. So.

9 o) Paragraph 59 of your second

10| affidavit, you claim that you’ve never lost any plants
11| to disease or mould is that right?

12 A No. Yeah. No. Plants just dye

13| because they’'re -- you get -- your odd one or two out of
14| the whole batch, right? That pass away, so.

15 0 Oh, so --

16 A But not mould or anything, no.

17 (0] So, but in fact, you do lose some
18| of your plants though, don’t you?

19 A One or two, yeah, yeah, yeah, every
20| time, you never, when you’'re getting -- my 60 -- or my
21 120, and then Brian’s 150, that is 270 plants. You are
22| not going to get every one, every one going every time.
23| You are going to lose some, every time. Guaranteed.

24 0] Do you know why you lose those?

25 A Because they’re not -- they’re not
26| taking it to your clone cube.

27 (0] I'm sorry?

28 A They're not taking to the clone
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1| cubes, they are just not in -- they don’'t want to grow.
2 Q Paragraph 65 of your affidavit you
3| say you don’t have your marijuana tested, is that right?
4 A Yeah. No.

5 0] So, you’'ve never tested your

6| marijuana for its potency?

7 A I tasted, I tested -- my personal
8| knowledge of it.

9 o] You don’t know how much --

10 A Works for me.

11 0 You don’t know how much THC or CBD
12| is in your marijuana?

13 A No. ©No. It is about 14 percent,
14| but -- so they say, anyway.

15 0 Just so I understand.

16 A Yeah. Yeah. Yeah.

17 0] How do you come up with that

18| estimate of 14 percent without having it tested?

19 A They say, they say, they’ll say
20| when you go to the store, how this plant produces. If
21| this is a 13 percent, or a 12 percent, or a 15 percent.
22| Yeah.
23 0 So, the seller of the seeds or the
24| clones --
25 A The seller of the seeds or the
26| clones, they will tell you.
27 0 Okay.
28 A I need to look it up under the
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1 booklet too, so, there is a book that tells all the

2| strains.

3 0] So, how do you know then that the

4| marijuana you grow is safe and not contaminated if you

5| don’t have it tested?

6 A I use it personally, I don’'t give

7| it to anyone else, and it works for me. That's good

8| enough for me. Why, why do I have to ask anyone else?

9/ I don’'t want to know anyone else’s attitude to anything.
10| I don’t want anyone else knowing about my life, that's
11| it. My life is my life. I want to keep it in my life.
12| That's it.

13 0 So, let's turn to the question of
14| what kind of testing or inspections you’ve done in terms
15| of the safety of your operation. Paragraph 66. You say
16| that you had an electrical inspection done of your grow
17| facility, right?

18 A I -- this is all stuff that you

19| have to ask Brian about.

20 0 Okay.

21 A Yeah. For me, I don’'t get in to

22| doing any of the technical stuff, any of the building,
23| any of the mixing chemicals. My memory is shot, so it
24| doesn’t deal with things that can ruin plans, so that's
25| 1it.

26 0 At paragraph 71 --

27 A Yeah.

28 -- you say that in terms of how you
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1 learned to cultivate, you learned it from the internet,

2| 1is that right?

3 A I learned basics from the internet,

4| but yeah. And I learned a lot from doing it, right?

5 o) So you never took any courses --

6 A No. No.

7 Q -- in gardening or --

8 A Word of mouth.

9 o] Approximately how many hours did
10| you spend on the internet researching growing over the
11| years?

12 A I would say probably -- over the
13| years? I would say 150 hours maybe.

14 0 A long time.

15 A Oh yeah, oh yeah, oh yeah. I mean,
16| I always check up on it, just to see if there is

17| anything new happening, and any new hints and try this,
18| try that, yeah. I mean, this is my medication, I want
19| the best medication I can get. That's it.

20 0 So, would it be fair to say even
21| now you continue to research on the Internet --

22 A Oh yeah, oh yeah, always, always,
23| always, because you never know what is out there, so --
24 0 Approximately how much time every
25| day do you spend researching marijuana?

26 A I would say maybe half hour a day.
27| But I have, I don’t have a job, you see? I have -- I
28 should have 40 hours a day to work, or a week to work.
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1| When I got in the accident, I was working 70 hours a

2| week. I was working 30 hours overtime, 40 hours full

3| time, and bro, I was working my ass off. But they sent
4| me home that day because I already put in 70 hours that
5| week, and they couldn’t keep me that day, so I had to go
6| home, and that was the accident. That put me in the

7| position in I'm in now, so.

8 o] Paragraph 73 of you affidavit you
9| say you've never had any injuries from growing

10| marijuana, right?

11 A Never, never.

12 0 So just to be sure, so you've

13 never had even a cut or a burn or back pain or?

14 A No -- well I've had, I've had --
15| yeah sure I've had back, where it hurts a little bit.
16| My back hurts a little bit all the time, so that's it.
17 o] I'm just wondering because just in
18| terms of the kinds of injuries that an ordinary gardener
19| might experience. You would have experienced some of
20| those by gardening, wouldn't you? Cultivating the
21| marijuana?
22 A Sure, I mean, but I don't call
23| those injuries, I call then as life. That's life,
24| right? You have to deal with life as getting your
25| plants growing the way they should, so.
26 0 Mr. Davey, I'd like to move now to
27| your finances.
28 A Okay.




Allwest Reporting Ltd

Vancouver, B.C. 85

1 0 If we look at paragraph 27 of the
2| same affidavit.

3 A 2772

4 0 Which is at page 240 of the Joint
5| Book of Documents. It starts there anyway.

6 A Yeah.

7 Q Just to confirm, it says that you
8| have a monthly income of --

9 A Just over five grand.

10 0 That's the figure I have. $5,119
11| per month.

12 A That's it.

13 0 Is that right?

14 A That's it, that's it.

15 Q So $4500 per month from your

16| annuity.

17 A My annuity, yeah.

18 0 And $619 per month from your

19| disability pension?
20 A Yeah.
21 0 Right?

22 A Yeah.

23 0 $5,119 per month. Now, in terms
24| of your expenses, if I understand correctly, you've set
25| that out at paragraph 30 of the affidavit.

26 A Mm-hmm.

27 o) Look paragraph 30. And again I
28| don't think you totaled it up, but from my calculator it
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appears that your monthly expenses are $3,747 a month.

A

Q

Yeah, that works, yeah.

Okay. So your income per month is

5,120, your expenses, which include marijuana growing,

are 3,747 per month, right?

A

Q

Mm-hmm.

In terms of your assets, you

explain at paragraph 28 that right now you don't have

any real estate.

You recently sold your home which

allowed you to get rid of all your debts, right?

or —-

worth?

A

ORI A © B o » O P O

o » O P O P»

That's it. I'm debt free. Yeah.
And you do own a car?

Two trucks.

A truck which you value at $2,000?
Yeah.

And it doesn't have any loan on it

No, no, I got two trucks too.
You have two trucks?
Yeah.

How much is your second truck

About $2,000 too.

You say you also have an ATV.

Oh yeah.

And you value that about $3,000?
I would value at about 2500.

Okay.
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1 A Now. It's been a while since I

2| wrote that, so yeah. They go down in value in time, so.
3 0 You also say you own a camper,

4| right?

5 A Oh yeah, yeah, yeah.

6 0 And you value that a thousand.

7 A Yeah.

8 Q And in terms of your savings,

9| about $10,000 in savings?

10 A Yeah. But in the same respect,

11| the thing of that and thing that I have a 750 gram a

12| month prescription, okay?

13 0 Mm-hmm.

14 A I use that 750 grams a month. So
15| when you're talking about buying the 750 grams a month
16 from Health Canada, whatever, at 8 to 10 bucks a gram,
17 that's $7500. I only make 5 grand, bro, that's not

18| working. And along with that -- and along with the fact
19| that I don't trust the growers, because if I don't get
20| to see the product and deal with it from beginning to
21| end, I don't trust it, so. That's it. It's my
22| medication, that's it.
23 But I don't hear anyone talk about it as
24| gracefully about marijuana is that, but yeah. 1It's help
25| me 100 percent, every aspect of my life, so.
26 0 Lets talk a bit about your
27| experience with Licenced Producers. In the same
28| affidavit at paragraph 22 you said that up to that time
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1| you've made no effort to determine if Licenced Producers
2| offer your preferred strains or equivalent strains in

3 terms of THC, CBD content, is that --

4 A I already know that to get what I

5| need is going to be minimum of 10 bucks a gram and at

6| 750 grams a month, that's 7500 bucks a month. I can't

7| do it, bro. There's not point in even going looking

8| because it's just wasting gas. No way. And I trust

9| what I grow. That's it. That's it.

10 o] Your counsel filed an affidavit

11| from a Mr. King indicated prices for Licenced Producers,
12| some of which get down to $5 a gram or --

13 A Even at $5 a gram, bro, even at $5
14| a gram you're still dealing with 4 grand a month and I
15| only have 1300 bucks to play with. You know what I

16| mean? So that's still puts me in a bad, bad position.
17 0] I'm just interested in that,

18| because here you say you earn $5,120 a month. And you
19| spend $3,747 a month. So that leaves approximately --
20 let’s see, $1200 additional left over.

21 A Yeah. But I mean, there’s other

22| things I’'ve got to spend money on, right? Like probably
23| 500 or 750 of that is going to groceries and gas and

24| everything else, right? So --

25 0 Well, Mr. Davey, you’ve already set
26| that out in your list here, what you spent on it. So,
27| if you were to cut out marijuana cultivation --

28

A Yeah.
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1 Q -- according to your own evidence,
2| you would save about $830 a month. 330 for growing, 500
3| for electricity.

4 A Yeah.

5 0 So that’s going to reduce your

6| expenses to about $2900, right?

7 A Yeah. Yeah.

8 0 So that means that you would be

9| able to spend around $2200 a month on marijuana.

10 A But do I trust it? No, I don't.
11| Not at all. There’s no way in hell. I don’t know -- I
12| don’'t -- yeah, yeah. 1I'll stand behind that 110

13| percent. I trust what I grow, and that’'s it.

14 Q So it’s not really an issue of

15| affordability.

16 A No.

17 0] It’'s an issue of trust.

18 A That’'s -- trust would be number

19 one. Number one for me, yeah. That's it.
20 0 Okay.
21 A This is my body, and I don’t want
22| anyone else dealing with it, I want to deal with it.
23 Q Now, you say that you haven’t
24| contacted the Licensed Producers because you don’t trust
25| them.
26 A No.
27 0] Now, of course, you’re covered by
28| the interlocutory injunction that permits you to
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1 continue to cultivate.

2 A Yeah. Yeah.

3 o) In accordance with the terms of

4| your licence. Right?

5 A That’s it.

6 0 Okay. But in the event your action
7 is dismissed, and the injunction is set aside, which

8| means that you can’t lawfully grow marijuana for

9| yourself any more, you would then approach the Licensed
10 Producers, wouldn’t you, to buy from?

11 A No, I wouldn’'t. Why would I do

12| that? Why would I go put myself in that position, to

13| buy stuff I don’t trust? That -- you don’'t -- like,

14| that’s what I'm trying to explain to you. I don’t trust
15| it. That’s it. I don’t trust it. And as far as it

16| goes, they’re out there to make money. That’s why it’'s
17| out there. That is exactly why it is out there. 1It’s
18| the same as liquor. I mean, it goes around, because

19 everyone wants it, and the producers want to make the
20| biggest, best they can. And it’s not the best, it’s the
21| most quantity, right? So, yeah, that’s it. I want what
22| I want for my body. I want to know exactly what goes
23| into it, and exactly what I'm getting out of it. That’'s
24| it.
25 (o) So even if the only lawful supply
26| available is these Licensed Producers, charging $5 a
27 gram --
28 A I would grow my own. I would grow
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1| my own. That’s it. That’s it. And, yeah, I would go
2| to court, no problem. I have no problem with that.

3| This is my life. I use it for only my good -- my --

4| anything that happens to me is me. That’s not going to
5 anyone else.

6 0 I'm just going to check my notes,
7| if I have any further questions for you.

8 A Go ahead.

9 Q Just getting back to inspections,
10| you said you’ve never had your facility inspected.

11 A I -- not for me. I haven’t had it
12| inspected for me. You can ask Brian, because Brian has
13| been there for longer than I have, and it’s his -- where
14| he was at. So I don'’t know.

15 0 Mm-hmm.

16 A I mean, as far as it goes, I don't
17| deal with any of that. So --

18 0 And I assume, of course, Health

19| Canada has never inspected your facility.
20 A Not from my calling. I -- like I
21 say, I don’'t deal with that stuff, so, yeah, that’s it.
22 o) And would you have any concerns
23| with Health Canada inspecting --
24 A Never. Never. Come on over. Come
25 over. No problem.
26 0 Without a warrant at any time.
27 A Not a problem.
28 MR. BRONGERS: No further questions.
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1 Thank you.

2 JUSTICE: Re-exam?

3 RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. CONROY:

4 0 Just to clarify first of all, there
5| is three affidavits that you swore, correct? Do you

6| recall?

7 A I kind of recall, I don’t recall.

8 Q You remember swearing an affidavit
9| for purposes of the injunction, the first affidavit that
10| you swore?

11 A Yeah. Yeah.

12 0 Okay. And that affidavit was sworn
13 January 8™, 2014, I assume you don’t remember the date,
14| but you remember doing the first affidavit?

15 A Yeah. Yeah. Yeah, yeah, yeah.

16 0 And then the second affidavit you
17| did, do you remember what you were responding to there?
18 A No.

19 0 Okay. Do you remember that the
20| defendants asked a number of questions and you put the
21| answers in the affidavit and then swore that affidavit?
22 A Yeah, yeah, yeah, yeah, yeah, yeah.
23 (0] Okay, and then the third affidavit
24| was simply attaching those affidavits?
25 A Yeah, yeah, yeah. Yeah.
26 0 You said you haven't worked since
27| 2000.
28 A I haven't worked since 2000. June
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1| 16",

2 Q And by that I take it you meant

3| working in the commercial body building things that you
4| used to do?

5 A No, exactly, exactly, yeah. Yeah.
6 0] But what do you do every day?

7 A I work on my -- I work on my

8| growing.

9 0 Okay.

10 A I make sure my plants are all there
11| and healthy and everything is good, so.

12 o] Okay, my friend asked you if you

13| had any other issues except pain and memory. Why do you
14| use this big walking stick?

15 A Because my left side of my body is
16| totally numb. And I wasn’'t supposed to walk, and that's
17| it. I can't -- I fall down often, so yeah, that’s it.
18 o] So, you've said pain and memory,

19| and that’s a balance -- would it be fair to describe
20| that as a balance problem?
21 A That's balance, yeah, yeah, yeah,
22| yeah, yeah, oh yeah.
23 o] Anything else like?
24 A No, I think it's just my balance
25| and my memory is bad, so.
26 Q You told my friend that you first
27| experienced some marijuana use in 2002 when you were at
28| GF Strong Rehabilitation Centre?
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1 A GF Strong, yeah, yeah, yeah.

2 o) But your first application, if I

3| have it correct, is July -- or the date of issue of your
4| first application was July 16, 2010?

5 A Yeah, yeah, yeah, yeah.

6 0 And that is when you had a

7| designated grower --

8 A That's Jim Walsh, yeah.

9 Q —- indicated at page 2,007 of the
10| joint book, Volume 6.

11 A Yeah, that’s it.

12 0 And then what I have indicates that
13| your next licence was July 19*", 2011, to July 19*",

14| 2012, and that was you growing, or getting a personal

15| production licence for yourself?

16 A Yeah, it didn’t work out, so.

17 0 Okay. So, originally a designated
18| grower, then you tried to grow for yourself, and then

19| the next one --
20 A Was another grower, and it didn’'t
21| work out again, so I just have bad news of those
22 growers, so.
23 o] Okay, let me just -- there is the
24| authorization to possess, July 19*, 2012, and a personal
25| production licence July 19*", 2013. So, designated
26 | grower, then personal production, and then another
27| personal production but you are saying somebody else was
28| doing it for you?
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1 A Yeah, yeah, yeah.

2 0 And then November 1°%, 2012, to July
3 19*" 2013, was again a renewal of your personal

4| production?

5 A Yeah.

6 0 But just carried on under the same
7 -- with the same arrangement?

8 A Yeah.

9 o) Or a different arrangement? Or do
10| you know?

11 A I don’'t remember. But I think it
12| was, is that the last one?

13 0 No, the last one is your current

14| one, right?

15 A That is the 25g a day, right?

16 0] Yes.

17 A That -- the one before was, yeah, I
18| think it was the same, I think it stayed the same as it
19| went 14 again, so that one, the last one is to when I
20| got bumped up, so.
21 Q Okay, I am looking at page 2,091 of
22| the book, joint book, authorization to possess says July
23 19*", 2012, is your authorization to possess, and the

24| next page is the personal production, and that is 69

25| plants, correct?

26 A Yeah.

27 Q Okay. And so that’s the one which
28| is indicated to be on 7*" in Mission, and are you saying
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1 that you did that yourself, or somebody --

2 A Yeah, that was one didn’t work out
3| very well. Yeah. Yeah. That was me trying to do it

4| myself, and, yeah, it didn’t work out, so.

5 o] All right. And then the final one
6| 1is page 2153, the authorization to possess, July 19*",

7 2013 from February 18, 2013. I’'m sorry, that’s the one
8| -- sorry, that’s not the final one. That'’s the one that
9/ -- you look at that page, 2154, has that name of the

10| female on it. Do you see that?

11 A Yeah. Yeah, that’s -- that’s still
12 the bad news one, so --

13 0 But that’s still a period when

14 somebody else was --

15 A Yeah, yeah.

16 0 -- doing it.

17 A Yeah, yeah, yeah, yeah. That was
18 the last -- yeah, that was the last of it there, so.

19 0 So the last one is 2171 of the
20| book. Your authorization to possess from September,
21| 2013, with a personal production licence. On 2172,

22| correct?

23 A Mm-hmm. Yeah, there’s -- that'’s

24| it. Okay. Yeah.

25 0 It’'s that last one which you worked
26| together with Mr. Alexander.

27 A Exactly. Yeah.

28 0 Okay.
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1 A That one’s been the key. That’s

2| the best part of all. I haven’t had any job as good as
3| this yet, so --

4 o] All right. Can you clarify us what
5/ you do in a typical day? And what I'm wanting you to

6| clarify -- my friend asked you some questions about

7| using every half hour, and this sort of thing, which I

8| took it to mean smoking or vaporizing.

9 A I -- yeah, yeah. Yeah.

10 0 Just a minute. And then you talked
11| about using the cookies. So, I just want you to clarify
12| for us what do you do in a typical day, smoking and/or
13| eating, or whether it’s tea or what? Just give us a

14| typical day.

15 A Okay. On a **reasonable day,

16| right?

17 That’s current.

18 A Okay. Yeah. TI'll give you a

19| current typical day. A current typical day will start
20| with -- I wake up, I smoke a joint in the morning.
21| Smoke --
22 o) When you say “smoke” -- you
23| vaporize, or --
24 A I -- I vaporize.
25 0 Okay.
26 A But, I mean, from the first joint
27| of the day, before my vaporizer’s heated up, and
28| everything -- I’1ll roll a joint. And then that will be
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1 the one-tenth of what I used to smoke, right?
2 Q Right. Let me just clarify. So,
3| sometimes you roll an actual joint, like a cigarette --
4 A Yeah, yeah. Yeah.
5 o] -- and smoke that while your
6| vaporizer is --
7 A Yeah. Well --
8 o] -- warming up.
9 A Yeah, yeah, yeah, yeah, yeah.
10 0 Okay.
11 A And then I’'ll make breakfast, have
12| breakfast. And then I’'ll sit down, watch a little TV.
13| I'll have a puff on the vaporizer, and just go out just
14| during the day. And then a small 50-gram cookie for the
15| day. And, yeah, that’s probably about five to seven
16| grams for that. Yeah.
17 0] Okay.
18 A And I’'1ll smoke the vaporizer all
19| day.
20 0 And then, as I understand it, you
21| eat a cookie at night.
22 A Oh, yeah. And then I eat a big
23| cookie at night. That’s a bedtime cookie. Yeah.
24 0] Okay, so -- so you're -- correct
25| me, now, if I'm not getting this right.
26 A Yeah. Yeah.
27 0] You’'re vaporizing regularly
28| throughout the day.
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1 A Oh, yeah. Yeah.

2 o] And you have a cookie during the

3| day, a smaller cookie.

4 A A smaller cookie, 50-gram cookie.

5 o] And a bigger cookie at night.

6 A Yeah. That’s it, yeah.

7 0 And when -- what about the teas and

8| oils?

9 A The teas, I’'ll have tea, if I feel
10| 1like it in the morning I’1l1l have -- I’'1ll start off with
11 a cup of tea. Start with tea, and, yeah. 1I’ll make
12 coffee, and I'1ll have coffee, and a bit of tea, and
13| that’s it. That'’s it. I mean, I'll try every way I
14| know. So --

15 0 Okay. And the oils -- am I

16| understanding that that goes into the batter of -- to

17| make the cookie? Or to the --

18 A No, the o0il -- the oil is -- it’s
19| made of a grapeseed oil.

20 0 Oh, yes.

21 A And I use the grapeseed oil, and

22| it’'s for outside of the body, right? So, any pain on

23| any part of my body, I can take care of it with that.

24 0 You put it on -- on the outside.

25 A Outside, yeah. Yeah, yeah, yeah,
26| vyeah.

27 0] How much cannabis do you need to

28

make the oil?
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10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

28

A

100

Make the 0il? I usually use about

a pound for making about a two-litre bottle of oil. So

-- but a litre is about a half a pound. So, eight

ounces does that,

just for you?

Q

N © R

Q

a litre.

Now, is that for the two of you, or

That’s just for me.
Okay.
Yeah, it's for me.

And everything you’ve been telling

us about is just your part, or your portion.

for Brian too,

That’s it.

A

It'’s -- yeah, I -- yeah. I make it

but I'm just talking about my portion.

s 0O P O P O ©O P O

Q

Yes. Just to be clear.

Yeah, yeah. That’s it.

Okay.

My friend referred to Og Kush.
0-G, yeah.

OG Kush.

Yeah.

You know what OG stands for?
Original Gansta.

Okay. My friend asked you about

pills. I take it you never were prescribed or any

doctor --

My doctor --

-- talked about putting a spray




Allwest Reporting Ltd

Vancouver, B.C. 101

1| under your tongue?

2 A No. No.

3 0 Okay.

4 A Never, never had that. I did the
5| pill one time and that was the only thing I -- I went

6| with the pharmaceuticals.

7 (0] Just on one occasion?

8 A One, one occasion. I couldn't

9| stand it. It made me sick. It was not good, so.

10 o) You don't remember the name?

11 A No, don't remember the name. I

12 remember --

13 Q My friend -- sorry?

14 A I remember it was a clear, like a
15| -- it's like a little golden clear pill.

16 o) Okay.

17 A So.

18 o] My friend say Nabilone but you

19| don't remember that name?
20 A I don't remember. I have no idea.
21 0 Marinol, have you heard of that?
22 A I -- no, no. And once again I say
23| that I don't like to use those pharmaceutical

24| medications because they're call crap.

25 0 Okay. And then to do with the

26| income issue, my friend put to you that you could reduce
27 your expenses, the electrical and other, I think, by

28| down to basically you having $2200 a month. Do you
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1| remember that?

2 A Yeah, I remember that, but yeah

3| it's --

4 o] So that -- so if I'm understanding
5| correctly, you would only have $2200 a month to spend on
6| purchasing marijuana --

7 A And not having anything left over,
8| so yeah that's crazy.

9 Q And nothing else?

10 A Yeah, yeah. That's --

11 o] Okay.

12 A I would never, ever do that, so.
13 Q Your income is roughly 5,000 a

14| month and this would be roughly getting close to half
15| your income per month?

16 A Yeah, yeah, yeah, yeah. And well,
17| yeah, that's a -- that's at the cheap price. If it's
18| the good -- if it was at the regular price that would be
19| way over my total budget.
20 0 Okay.
21 A I mean I get 5 -- it would 7500 if
22| it was 10 bucks a gram, so.
23 o] All right. So my friend suggested
24| to you that affordability wasn't the issue, it was
25| control over what you're producing.
26 A Yeah.
27 0] So, and you mention a number of
28| times your distrust of others and wanting to control --
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1 A That's right, yeah.

2 Q -- what's in your plant and so on.
3 A Yeah, yeah, yeah.

4 0 But am I right that affordability
5| is another factor?

6 A If -- they both play a role in it.
7| Yeah, that's it. That's it. Hand in hand.

8 o) All right. My friend ask you

9| about having anything to do with the Licenced Producers.
10 A Yeah.

11 0 What we call the LPs.

12 A Yeah.

13 0] Have you been watching news or

14| reading things, anything about them from time to time?
15 A I have. I, I always, always keep
16| up on the whole what's going on in our community. So

17| yeah.

18 0 Have you heard about recalls of

19| some of the product? Things like that?
20 A I haven't heard too much about
21| recall some of the product, but I mean as far as it goes
22| I want to know -- I, I don't know. Like I say, I want
23| to know exactly how that plant was grown. I'm putting
24| it in my body, I want to know exactly how it's grown
25| from beginning to end. I plant it from, from being
26| plant in a cooling cube to big potted plants and I watch
27| them grow all the way up, right? And then I, I trim
28| down. So that's it. And I -- I know the medication is
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1 mine. That's it.

2 o) Okay thank you Mr. Davey.

3 A Thank you very much.

4 (WITNESS ASIDE)
5 JUSTICE: I think we're concluded and
6| I'll see -- we will start again at 1:30.

7 (PROCEEDINGS ADJOURNED AT 12:24 P.M.)

8 (PROCEEDINGS RESUMED AT 1:34 P.M.)

9 MR. CONROY: The next witness, Justice
10| Phelan, is Brian Alexander. Mr. Alexander, if you’d

11 take the stand.

12 For the record, his affidavit appears in
13| the joint book, Volume 1 at tab 1.

14 BRIAN ALEXANDER, Affirmed:
15 THE REGISTRAR: Please state your

16| name, occupation, and address for the record.

17 THE WITNESS: Brian Alexander.

18| Occupation, framer. Address is 2459 Pauline Street,

19 Abbotsford, B.C.
20 MR. CONROY: If his affidavit could be
21| marked, I guess, as Exhibit 2. And then would you

22| please answer any questions my friend has.

23 THE WITNESS: Yes.

24 (AFFIDAVIT OF BRIAN ALEXANDER MARKED EXHIBIT 2)

25 JUSTICE: I think we’'re ready.

26 MR. BRONGERS: Thank you, Justice

27| Phelan. Before I begin my questions for Mr. Alexander,
28| though, there’s just one small preliminary matter. I
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1| Jjust want to remind the court, as of course no doubt

2| aware, Mr. Alexander is not one of the plaintiffs in

3| this case. And so as a result, I am not intending on

4| asking him any questions about his medical history or

5| his finances, even though he is a medical marijuana

6| patient. The only reason I raise it is because on

7| reviewing one of his affidavits that was tendered in

8| January of last year, there is an allegation at

9| paragraph 6, a brief and a vague one, about his personal
10| concerns regarding affordability of marijuana under the
11| new regime, as well as a line about his medical

12| condition.

13 And I hope that my friend will not be

14| relying on that evidence in his closing argument.

15| Otherwise, then, I suppose we would need to have a

16| ruling on it. But I just wanted to confirm perhaps with
17| my friend that he is not relying on paragraph 6 in

18| support of any allegation of affordability of marijuana.
19 MR. CONROY: I do take the position
20| that it’s part of the evidence, and it’s relevant. He's
21| a patient. His authorization is there as an exhibit,

22| and he is -- again, it’s a constitutional challenge in
23| which you’ve got all sorts of statements by all sorts of
24| people, most of them not even sworn affidavits, both in
25| my friend’'s materials, Ms. Ritchot in particular, and in
26| some of our affidavits that they’ve decided not to

27| cross-examine on, such as Mr. Wilcox’'s affidavit, or

28| Danielle Lukiv'’s affidavit. They have all these
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1| exhibits from all of these patients to try and give you
2| the full sort of picture of all the problems that the

3| patients say they’'re having. So, I submit that this is
4| relevant and my friend can cross-examine him on it.

5 MR. BRONGERS: We have two

6| difficulties with that, Justice Phelan. First of all,
7| there is nothing in the pleadings about Mr. Alexander’s
8| condition or affordability. More importantly, because
9| he’'s not a plaintiff, we were never given an opportunity
10| to examine him for discovery. If indeed he had been

11| joined as a plaintiff, or if there had been allegations
12| along these lines, we would have conducted an

13| examination for discovery so I could do a proper cross-
14 examination on his medical condition, on his finances,
15| on his ability to afford marijuana. I would be doing a
16| cross-examination blind, if I'm forced to do that in

17| this case, which would be enormously prejudicial to the
18| Crown.

19 JUSTICE: But no objection was taken
20| to the tendering of his evidence.

21 MR. BRONGERS: Except his evidence was
22| tendered in support of the injunction application. And
23| it was not understood that he would then be relying on
24| that one sentence at the actual hearing of the trial.
25| And that’s why I guess it’s a good thing that I'm

26| clarifying. I thought this would be an uncontroversial
27| matter that my friend would say, “Yes, that’s right,

28

there’s this one sentence in there that we are not
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1| relying on, and that’s fine.”

2 But if the court is going to put any

3| stock in the notion that here we have a fourth patient

4| who is alleging that there are affordability issues with
5| respect to the new medical marijuana regime, I would ask
6| for an opportunity to discover -- first of all, I would
7| insist that my friend should amend his pleadings so that
8| we understand what the allegation is specifically. But
9| secondly, that we would get an opportunity to examine

10| for discovery. And we submit that it’s far too late at
11 this stage, and that it’s really unnecessary to my

12| friend. He has essentially three fact patterns that

13| he'’s putting before the court with respect to

14| affordability of marijuana and the medical need of these
15 individuals: Mr. Davey, Ms. Beemish, and Mr. Allard.

16| We had not understood that there was going to be a

17 fourth one as well, Mr. Alexander.

18 And again, I repeat, this would be very
19| prejudicial to us, and if the court is considering
20| allowing this, again, we would ask that this witness be
21| stood down and that we be given an opportunity to

22| examine him for discovery.

23 JUSTICE: Well, I'1ll let your friend
24| respond to this.

25 MR. CONROY: This comes as a complete
26| surprise to me. I have not heard of this prior to a few
27| minutes ago. And it’s a Charter challenge. We have

28| picked a few people to try and have some representatives
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1| of the group. You're entitled to introduce

2| hypotheticals and so on, in these types of cases. And
3 so I say -- but more importantly, he, as you’ve heard

4| from the previous witness, has become the other patient
5| who’s working with the patient who has brain damage.

6| And that the two of them working together in that type
7| of a modus operandi is how it’s working well for them.
8| And I submit you should hear that evidence.

9 His own personal situation -- he’s

10| indicated that there in paragraph 6, and my friend can
11| cross-examine him on it. I don’t see where the

12| prejudice is, given that this is a -- we’ve picked

13| representatives of the patients. Otherwise we’d have to
14| call a huge number, and make them all plaintiffs, and
15| have them all subject to discovery and cross-

16| examination.

17 JUSTICE: Mr. Brongers, is it your

18| position that the only people that you could -- well,
19| you can only discover parties. I appreciate that. Are
20| you taking the position that the plaintiff can’'t elicit
21| affidavit evidence from non-parties in support of their
22| position?

23 MR. BRONGERS: That is our position,
24| vyes.

25 JUSTICE: On what authority?

26 MR. BRONGERS: Well, it’'s -- it'’'s

27| actually more the issue of the fact that the statement
28| of claim says nothing about this. We thought that the




Allwest Reporting Ltd

Vancouver, B.C. 109

1| factual evidence, in terms of lack of affordability and
2| medical need for marijuana, was limited to those three
3| plaintiffs who are patients and who set out detailed

4| information about their ability to afford marijuana and
5| their medical need for it.

6 I was only planning today -- I'm

7| surprised this has become such a big issue. I was

8| planning on a relatively brief cross-examination of Mr.
9| Alexander, dealing with the work that he does to assist
10| Mr. Davey, the plaintiff, in terms of growing his

11| marijuana. So these will be questions about their

12| operation and how much it costs.

13 I was not intending on asking the same
14| questions I asked Mr. Davey this morning about how much
15| money he earns, what he spends it on, when he first

16| started using marijuana, whether he uses it for

17| recreational purposes, and whether he uses it just for
18| medicinal purposes. I’'m not sure it’s fair to the

19| witness himself that he would be subjected to these
20| questions when I’'m not sure the witness was expecting
21| that that would be part of his cross-examination today.
22| This is one sentence in --
23 JUSTICE: I was going to say, this
24 seems to be truly the tempest in a teapot.
25 MR. BRONGERS: Maybe.
26 JUSTICE: It’'s one sentence. He's
27| concerned about affordability. Well, you know, in the
28| scheme of things, it’s a sentence. How much weight the
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1 court’s going to give to one person’s concern about

2| affordability -- affordability may well be an issue, and
3| your friend is entitled to establish that there are

4| concerns out there. But the fact that there is one more
5| person who'’s concerned about affordability, where there
6| might be three or four people downstairs who are

7| concerned about affordability, okay. What that’'s --

8| this case isn’t going to rise and fall on this

9| gentleman’s concern for affordability.

10 MR. CONROY: And we are producing an
11 expert, Zachary Walsh, that addresses the affordability
12| issue.

13 JUSTICE: Yes.

14 MR. BRONGERS: Your statement, Justice
15| Phelan, has assuaged any concerns we have.

16 JUSTICE: Yes. I didn’t think --

17| okay. So, like you, I thought that this would be fairly
18| brief. I think we have affordability and we have now

19| calm in the teapot, and so we will move on.
20 MR. BRONGERS: Thank you, Justice
21| Phelan.
22 CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BRONGERS:
23 o) So Mr. Alexander, the questions I'm
24| going to ask will relate to your affidavit which I hope
25| you have in front of you.
26 A Yes.
27 0] The Joint Book of Documents at page
28 1 and following.
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1 A Yes.

2 Q And also I’'ll have some questions
3| about Mr. Davey'’s affidavit which is also in that same
4| book there, starting at page 226. Is that all right?

5 A Yes.

6 0 Thank you. So I’ll begin by asking
7| you some questions about your background just to

8| confirm. You were born on May 31°%, 1970?

9 A Yes.

10 o) So that means you’re now 44 years
11| old?

12 A Yes.

13 Q At paragraph 2 of your first

14| affidavit, so at page 4, you explain in terms of your
15| profession that you are a self-employed contractor who
16| does renovations. Is that right?

17 A Yes.

18 0 Could you just tell the court what
19| kind of contractor you are? Residential, commercial?
20 A More of a renovation contractor.
21| Somebody needs a door put in, I get called. Somebody
22| needs a wall built, I get called. Drywall. Kind of

23| spent since I’'ve been 19 building houses and whatnot.
24 0 So you described yourself I noticed
25| earlier as a framer. Is that a better description?

26 A It’'s pretty well what everybody

27| knows that business like, yes.

28 o) And how long have you been doing
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1| this?

2 A Well, pretty well since I’'ve been

3] 19.

4 o) Just doing the math then, so you’ve

5| been a contractor for 25 years?

6 A Yeah.

7 Q What other kinds of jobs have you

8| done in your life?

9 A As getting out of high school I've
10| done painting, I’'ve done Capp’s Bicycle, I worked there
11| for three months. I’ve worked at Streifel Industries
12| making saw blades for another three months until pretty
13| well I became a framer.

14 Q When did you start becoming a

15| framer? Around 19 or --

16 A Yeah, pretty well 19 is when I
17| pretty well got into the --

18 0 And what kind of education or

19| specialized training have you had in order to do that
20| profession?

21 A Basically just hands on for many
22 years.

23 o] No formal training?

24 A No.

25 0 And how much do you work as a

26 framer? A 40 hour week or how does it average out?
27 A Lately at least 25 to 30 hours a

28

week.
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1 Q And is that a good average

2| representation of how much you work during a year?

3 A It depends on how much other work I
4| have in my licence ability. If I'm super busy that week
5| there, then I'm less for working. So I'm kind of basing
6| it on pretty well average, yeah, 25ish.

7 0 So you don’'t work a full 40 hour

8| week?

9 A No.

10 o) At paragraph 7 of your affidavit,
11| to your first affidavit, you say you’'re a caregiver to
12| Mr. Davey. You assist him with such things as buying

13| groceries, that sort of thing.

14 A I don’'t buy his groceries, but I

15| take him down to the grocery store and if he needed

16| anything I'd go get it. I know what he’s gone -- well,
17| not knowing what he’s gone through, but I see how hard
18| he’s had to be to get to this point, and it’s like he

19 doesn’t get much help. He gets pretty well walked on
20| more than he does get help.
21 Q And you help him as a volunteer,
22| right? He doesn’t pay you for your assistance.
23 A No, he doesn’t, no.
24 0] And how many hours a week would you
25| say you are spending helping Mr. Davey?
26 A Probably -- it used to be probably
27| about 10 hours a week I used to run him around and take
28| him to Costco or anything he needed. I always made sure
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1 that he got everything he needed. He never had a

2| vehicle at that time, right? So I was pretty well his

3| wheels.

4 0 So how did this arrangement come

5| about? When did you first meet?

6 A Shawn used to be my neighbour two

7| houses down, lived there for pretty well eight years.

8| Didn’t really know him, I just have seen him there and

9| seen his friends and stuff. I think -- I don’t -- how I
10| actually introduced myself, we’ve kind of known, each

11| other so it’s kind of tough.

12 0] Do you remember what year you met
13| him?

14 A I'd say at least two years that

15| I've actually met, met him. But working with him, yeah,
16| a year and a half, that pretty well been together.

17 0] That’s helpful, because you -- your
18| personal use production licence and your decision to

19 grow together at the same property, that licence came
20| into effect on September 26, 2013. Does that help you
21| a bit in terms of recalling when you two decided to grow
22| marijuana together?
23 A Oh, when we started growing, it was
24| pretty well that time. It was about a year and a half
25 ago. But I thought you meant how well have I known him,
26| or when did I meet him. There was a difference on that
27 one.
28 0 There is indeed. But more
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1| significantly, this arrangement came about in 2013.

2| Would that be fair?

3 A Pretty well, yeah.

4 0 And if you could just explain to

5| the court the nature of your ownership of this property,

6| or your lease over this property. I must confess I had

7| understood from your affidavit that you own the growing
8| property.

9 A No, I don’'t own. I rent it off a
10| friend that owns the property. He lives in -- I won't
11| say where, but you guys have his information on certain
12| pieces of paper. So basically I just rent the property
13| from him. And also the -- trying to think of the right
14| word. Can’'t think of the right word, or -- kind of take
15| care of his property for him, make sure the lawn’s cut,
16| make sure everything’s done that Shawn can’t do.
17| Everything like that gets done on that behalf. Anything
18| blows up, the hot water tank blows up, I get a phone
19| call like I did two days ago. I kind of do all the
20| maintenance on the property too.

21 Q So when did you start renting this

22| property?

23 A It was probably pretty well when my
24 licence started, which was just before, that I was

25| interested in renting it, just before my licence was --

26| which was -- I can’t remember.

27 0 20132

28 A No, it was -- no, my licence ended
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1 12, so would have been a year before that time.

2 0 About 2012, then.

3 A That’s when it started. That'’s

4| probably when I was looking into getting the property

5 from the guy.

6 0] Okay. So you rented that property
7| in 2012. And if you could just describe the property a
8| bit for it. We know it’s a five-acre property, right?
9 A Yeah, it basically -- driveway is
10| here, gate, drive up the driveway, house is off to the
11| left-hand side, with a wrap-around driveway. Creek. At
12| the far end of the property is a building that is an

13| outbuilding. Everything was already powered, and there
14| was already power already up there. There’s chain-1link
15| fence, it goes down both sides to the Beech Creek.

16| There’'s a cable gate going across the driveway, so

17| nobody can get a little farther that we don’t want.

18 It’'s all treed.

19 Don’'t know what else you need about the
20| property, right?
21 Q So you started leasing it in about
22| 2012. At that point, was there somebody living in the
23| house when you leased it?
24 A No, there was -- moved out. Of
25 course I had to clean up the house, because basically
26| renter moved out and didn’t leave it well. And I spent
27| almost a week taking garbage to the dump and whatnot.

28

And that’s kind of when I offered it to Shawn. Like, we
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1| actually started working before -- like just at that

2| time frame. But he didn’t move in just yet. We talked
3| about it, and other stuff, before I actually just let

4| him -- I don’'t want somebody to just jump into

5 something. I’ve got to make sure that he wants to do

6| before I -- I'm not --

7 0 Right.

8 A He has to understand the

9| consequences of living there too, right?

10 o) Do you remember approximately when
11| he moved in? Again, keeping in mind that you started

12| leasing it in 2012, you got your licence to grow there
13| in September of 2013, if that helps at all in

14| remembering when he moved in.

15 A I think as his licence was

16| transferred, or getting transferred, or whatever it was,
17| I think we negotiated about him moving in about that two
18| months prior to his licence actually getting there.

19 0 In the summer of 2013, maybe?
20 A Yeah, could have been. I’'m bad

21| with dates, too. As you can see, my birthday.

22 o) Okay. And so just to confirm then,
23| your financial arrangement with him, then, is that he
24 rents that residence from you for $1,000 a month. He
25| pays you the rental amount?

26 A Personally, yes.

27 Q Right, and you’re paying rent of

28

course to --
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1 A I go down to the bank and deposit

2| the money in the bank account and send that out to the

3| homeowner.

4 o) I see. So yes, so you have a lease

5| with the home owner as well.

6 A Yes.

7 Q How much are you paying in rent for

8| that property?

9 A I pay 500 towards the outbuilding.
10 (0] You don’t pay any rent for the main
11| property itself?

12 A No. Not for the property itself,
13| no. 1It’'s more or less -- if I was to rent the whole

14 thing I’'d be looking at $1500 for the house, the

15| property and then blah, blah, blah.

16 o] I think I understand now. So in

17 fact Mr. Davey rents the residence from the owner of the
18| entire property. You just take the cheque from him and
19| deliver it to the owner of the property.

20 A Pretty well. 1It’s more of a -- we
21| both share all the bills because we both have a licence
22| there.

23 o] Right.

24 A So whatever the bills are, we split
25 the bills in half. I don’t -- didn’t want the house,

26| but Shawn said that he’d take the house to live in, so
27| he pays a little bit more to live in the house. So

28| that'’s worked out better for everybody. He could have




Allwest Reporting Ltd
Vancouver, B.C. 119

1| stayed at his older residence where he used to be, but
2| he likes being hands on.

3 Q Would this be another way of

4| describing the rental arrangement that you have with

5 this other person who owns the property, that you're

6| paying a total of 1500 in rent?

7 A Yeah.

8 Q To use the entire property?

9 A To take the whole property, 1500,
10| yes.

11 0] So I assume that the outbuilding,

12| is *“barn” a fair word to describe it or would you prefer
13 “shed” or --

14 A Pardon me?

15 Q I'm just trying to figure out a

16| good word to describe the outbuilding. I keep calling
17| it a barn, but maybe that’s not fair.

18 A To me it’s -- some of the numbers
19| he might have mentioned were -- it’s actually 35 by 45.
20| It’'s all insulated. It’s not just a barn. It’'s roof

21| trussed and it’'s foursquare walls, not one of those lean
22| and bars that’s going to fall down next week. To me

23| 1it’'s a decent building.

24 0] Okay. Now, given that you’re a

25 contractor you could probably do this. How much would
26| you estimate it would cost to build a structure like

27| that?

28 A A structure like that, you’re
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1| probably anywhere from 50 to 60 thousand dollars.

2 Q Would it be fair to say it’'s

3| probably worth that since you keep it in good shape?
4 A Yeah.

5 o] And when did you start growing
6| marijuana in it? I know you got your licence in

7 September of 2013. Is that when you started or --

8 A I started building just before
9| then.
10 0] I'm sorry, Mr. Conroy reminds me

11 I'm talking about when Mr. Davey started growing and it
12| was September 2013.

13 A Okay.

14 0] But you may have started earlier

15| than that.

16 A Yeah, it was already -- before

17| Shawn was actually there, I already had what I needed

18| built, how I wanted it built. I was just finding it

19| tough, me personally to afford all the bills. Like I

20 had my own residence, three kids, so it starts to add

21| up. I can’'t go to work every day to take care of -- all
22| my bills was adding, so that’s why we kind of did it

23| together and it split the bills in half, which makes

24| 1life a lot easier for me and my family.

25 0] So you were growing alone then from
26 | approximately September 2012 to September 2013, and then

27| after that the two of you were both growing --

28 A Yes.
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1 0 —- in that facility, correct?

2 A Yes.

3 0] Great. Now, at paragraph 4 of your
4| first affidavit, it’s at page 5 of the Joint Book of

5| Documents, the first sentence, your evidence is: "Based
6| on your experience as a contractor, I primarily

7| constructed the facility using half-inch plywood and no
8| drywall and ensuring lots of venting. We also bleach

9| and wash and clean the site constantly. We have never
10| experienced any mould or other significant problems of
11| that nature." What do you mean by based on your

12| experience as a contractor?

13 A For a few years there, I was doing
14| quite a lot of grow-op clean up. Busted grow ops in

15| Maple Ridge, Mission, and you see the problems that they
16| cause, and what you can do if they're illegal. So, you
17| kind of learn from that. Like I spent pretty well two
18| years in between -- like back and forth of how not to do
19| things and how to do things. Its just -- you don’t use
20| drywall. Instantly, that’s just, I know. It is mould.
21| Just by keeping everything cleaner, water messes, all
22| that stuff, it makes mould.
23 Q So, based on your experience
24| beforehand, you are saying you knew what to do in order
25| to fix up this building to get it in a state where you
26| could grow marijuana safely, right?
27 A Yes.
28 0 When did you do this work to the
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1| putting in the plywood and --

2 A Pretty well in the two months

3| before I actually had my licence. I started, like it

4| was all blown in attic insulation, you could start

5| seeing the poly was -- pulled the whole works -- it's

6| got to be done anyways, because eventually the poly is

7| going to rip down, the insulation is going to fall down,
8| you should put it up. So, it is kind of a mutual

9| agreement that I kind of help him clean up the building,
10| and I kind of get the space that I need.

11 0 And how many hours of work was

12| that? Or weeks, or whatever is easiest for you to

13| estimate?

14 A If -- I'd probably at least say a
15| month.

16 And you did that work by yourself?
17 A Pretty well, yeah.

18 Mr. Davey didn’t assist you with

19| that I'm sure?
20 A Well I -- no, back then I didn’'t
21| have anybody, I don’t -- you don’t want to tell anybody,
22| pretty well, what you’re doing and what not. So, you
23| kind of do it yourself and kind of make it -- I don’t
24 like advertizing, “Yeah, come on over, help build walls,
25| help” -- it is none of their business what I’'m doing.
26 Q You didn’t hire anybody to do it?
27| You did it --
28 A Not at that time, no. Before I




Allwest Reporting Ltd

Vancouver, B.C. 123

1| actually got going on covering up with plywood and

2| stuff, I actually did hire an electrician. He came into
3| the building and certified that all the electrical was

4 up to date, was fine, and after I was done building, I

5| brought the electrician back, and we did a load test and
6| all the circuits, so I wasn’t pulling too much, blowing
7| things up. Heating things -- yeah. Everything was

8| tested after I was done building.

9 o] And you felt that was important to
10| do, right?

11 A It is. It has got to be safe. Now
12| that Shawn has moved in with me, just -- I did it up to
13| my standards, but now that Shawn is -- I have to -- it
14| 1is completely different. Everything has to be safe for
15| Shawn. You can't have what I’'ve seen -- cords rolled

16| across the floor, cords hanging off ceiling, you can't
17| have that with Shawn. Because if he stumbles, he grabs
18 for whatever he can to -- so it all has to be safe.

19 Okay, the next one I am going to look at
20| 1is putting chair rail all the way around the building,
21| but that is more or less for Shawn, it's not for what
22| has to be done.
23 o] And according to your affidavit,
24| the cost of that inspection was $400, right? That's at
25| paragraph 4 of your affidavit?
26 A The cost wise of what?
27 0] Oh, sorry, I've got the wrong
28| reference. That is in your second affidavit, at
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1 paragraph 66, it's between 66 and 70. So, if we turn to
2| page 255. Yeah, top of page 255 it seems to say the
3| cost of the inspection is $400. 1It's actually Mr.
4| Davey'’'s evidence, but I just wanted you to confirm
5| because --
6 A Yeah, at the very end I pretty well
7| spent $400 to get the final --
8 Q My mistake, exactly, it's Mr.
9| Davey’s affidavit, yes. So you confirm that you did
10| spend $400 to get that electrical inspection done?
11 A Yes, it was spent, yes.
12 o] Did you have any other inspections
13| done say by as a certified fire safety inspector?
14 A No.
15 o) Why not?
16 A Didn’t know I had to.
17 0] I don’t think you have to, I am
18| Jjust curious if that is something that you thought
19| about?
20 A It's not necessarily knowing that
21| you have -- I didn’t know that these ones had to get all
22| the inspections. Like, if Health Canada walked in,
23| fine, they can come walk through it. I didn’t know I
24| had to inform everybody to what I was doing, and let
25 them to walk through too. If Fire Department showed up,
26| I'd let them walk through it. I am not -- I have
27| nothing to hide.
28 0 Did you have a home inspector
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1| inspect it, just a general home inspector?

2 A Not from Health Canada, no.

3 0 No, I don’'t mean from Health

4| Canada. A private home inspector.

5 A Not since I've rented the property,
6| no.

7 (o) So the only inspection was the

8 electrical one done, correct?

9 A Yeah, the electrical one, yes.

10 0 In your affidavit, I think it is,
11| yes, at Affidavit No. 1 at paragraph 4. Yes, page 5 of
12| the Joint Book of Documents.

13 A Okay.

14 0] Paragraph 4, your second sentence:
15 “Similarly I ensured that all of the

16 electrical work was reviewed by a certified

17 electrician and installed a heat kill unit so

18 that if any power fluctuations of any

19 significant occur, or if it gets too hot in
20 the production site, the power will shut down
21 automatically.”

22 So that’s a safety feature that you

23| decided to add on, right?

24 A Yes.

25 0 And we can look at the affidavit if
26| it helps, but I’'ll tell you that Mr. Davey in his

27| affidavit at page 242 said that that cost about $1,000,
28| that heat kill unit. Would you agree with that?
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1 A If you buy all the -- each piece of
2| it, then yes.

3 Q Now, to address the risk of break-
4| ins and theft, you installed what appears to me anyways
5| to be a pretty elaborate security system.

6 A Yeah. No, I don’t want anybody in
7| there. What’s mine is mine.

8 Q I understand, and the description

9| that you’ve given here is that you’ve got a locked gate
10| at the entrance to the property, a further steel cable
11| across the road that leads to the outbuilding, steel

12| cage door with double deadbolts on the outside of the

13 shop, further steel door with double deadbolts, one-inch
14| plywood door with double padlocks, siren alarm upstairs,
15| siren alarm downstairs. Do you agree you put all those
16| in?

17 A There’s still another steel cage

18| door. There’s still another man door. And then to get
19| into the room there’s still another plywood door that
20| goes over with double padlock and another door behind
21| it. You ain’t getting in.
22 (0] And at your fifth paragraph of this
23| affidavit you explain that you’ve also got an alarm
24| system, right?
25 A Ye